
THE REPUBLIC OF I'GANDA

IN THE COURT OF APPEAL AT KAMPALA

Coram: Musoke, MulgagonJa & Mugengi, ,IIA

CONSOLIDATED ELECTION PETITION APPEALS NO 73 & 74 OF

202L

BETWEEN

1. THE ELECTORAL COMMISSION
2. MUSEVENI WILLIAM : : :: ::: :: :: : : : : : :: : :: : ::APPELLANTS

AND

10 TUMWESIGYE ['RED :::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::: RESPTONDENT

{Appeal crga;lnst the Judgment of the Hon. Ladg Justlce Eva K.
Lusuroltrr, dated 22"a October 2O27 tn Mubende Electlon Petltlon

No, OO3 of 2021)
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JUDGMENT OF IRENE MULYAGONJA, JA
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This is an appeal from the decision of the High Court in which the trial
judge found that the election of the Member of Parliament for Buwekuia

South County Constituency in Mubende District did not comply with
the laws and principles governing the conduct of elections in Uganda,

and that this affected the result in a substantial manner. The trial judge

accordingly nullified the election and ordered that fresh elections be

held for that position, with costs to the respondent herein'

Background

The 2na appellant and the respondent together with Ainebyona Ronald

contested for the position of Member of Parliament for Buwekula South

Constituency in an election that was held by the 1"t appellant on 14th

January 2021. The 2"d appellant garnered 8,075 votes, while the

respondent was runner up with 7,479 votes; Ainebyona Ronald

garnered the lowest number of votes. The 1"t appellant thus declared

ih" 2", appellant the victor and he was subsequently gazetted arld

sworn in as Member of Parliament for Buwekula south constituency.
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The respondent was dissatisfied with the results and so brought a
petition to challenge them at the High Court in Mubende. The grounds

were that the 2"d appellant and others, with his knowledge and consent
committed electoral offences contrary to the Parliamentary Elections
Act, for which the 1"t appellant was vicariously liable. Further that there
was lack of freedom and transparency, unfairness and failure to enforce

the provisions of the Parliamentary Elections Act by the 1"t appellant.
The trial judge found in favour of the respondent and issued the orders
referred to above. Being dissatisfied with the decision, the appellants
each brought an appeal against the respondent, registered in this court
as Election Petition Appeals Nos. 73 and 74 of 2021.

Representation

When the parties appeared for the hearing of the Appeals on 28th March
2022, Dric Sabiti and Godfrey Musinguzi represented the Electoral
Commission in EPA 73 of 20.21, while the appellant in EPA 74 of 2O2L

was represented by Abas Nsamba Matom and Stephen Asiimwe. The

respondent in both appeals was represented by Paul Ssebunya and
Dominnic Twinamatsiko. By consent of counsel for all the parties, the
appeals were consolidated and heard together.

Court directed counsel for the appellants to confer and agree on the
relevant grounds of appeal to be determined. On the 31"1 March 2022,

counsel for the appellants combined all the grounds that they had
identified before and fi1ed a Consolidated Memorandum of Appeal, with
multiple grounds as follows:

1. The learned trial judge erred in law and fact when she failed to
properly appraise and evaluate the evidence on record and
consequently arrived at wrong conclusions that;

i) A total number of 2,69O votes were unaccounted for;
ii) That those were votes which were given to and then cast by

voters who were not verified by the polling agents in
contravention of section 1 PE Act;

iii) That the assumption is that 1 ,5 12 voters at 6 (six) polling
stations were not legaily verified yet the votes were counted as

part of the final tally of the 3 candidates;
iv) That the proven defects seriously affected the final result of the

election to the extent that the result could no longer reasonably
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be said to represent the true will of the majority of voters of
Buwekula South Constituency;

v) That the rnargin between the candidates being small, the
evidence leads the court to believe that the 2"d appellant's
victory was seriously in doubt.

3. The learned trial judge erred in law when she misapplied the law

relating to ballot stuffing thereby arriving at a wrong conclusion that
the petitioner/ respondent had proved that there was ballot stuffing'

4. The learned trial judge erred in law and fact when she held that
wrong entries in 19 out of 61 Declaration of Results Forms pointed

to deliberate manipulation or reckless negligence tllat had a
significant impact on the linal tally.

5. The learned trial judge misdirected herself in law and fact when she

overruled an objection/point of law in respect to the respondent's

reliance on certified copies of the Voters Registers (VR) where,

contrary to the law, no proof of payrnent of stamp duty was shown

thereby making the wrong conclusion to rely on them'

6. The learned triat judge erred in law and lact when she disregarded

the 2,a appellant's objections about major parts of the respondent's

evidence being hearsay thereby arriving at a wrong decision'

7. The learned trial judge erred in law and in fact when she disregarded

the appellants' objections on voters' registers retrieved from ballot

boxesonttLeglgl2o2ltherebyarrivingatanerroneousdecision.

8'Thelearnedtrialjudgeerredinlawandfactwhensheshiftedthe
burden of proof on to the 1"t respondent in respect to the appellant's

missing voters' registers where no proof was made and made a

I-rndingthattherewasnon.veriflcationofthevoterstherebymaking
wrong hndings.
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2. The learned trial judge erred in law and fact by admitting and relying
on evidence only adduced during the petitioner's submissions
pertaining to the Declaration of Results Forms (DR) and Voters

Registers (VR) that had not been pleaded in the petition and proved

through affrdavit evidence verifying the respondent's petition'
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9. The trial judge having expunged the petitioner's/ respondent's
affidavit accompanying the petition failed and/or did not put the

remaining evidence to proper scrutiny and by reason of such failure
arrived at wrong conclusions.

lo.The trial judge erred in law and fact when she made a finding that
the appellant (sic) did not prove that 1,512 voteS in the impugned 6
polting stations were not verified.

10 11.The trial judge misdirected herself and arrived at wrong conclusions

when she relied on revelations and interlocutory applications than
otherwise had been originally pleaded.
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12. The trial judge misdirected herself on the law and arrived at wrong a

decision when she relied on the material from the ballot boxes.

13. The trial judge misdirected herself on the law when she without
conducting a recount of votes, made a finding that a total sum of
2,69O votes was unaccounted for.

14.The trial judge did not evaluate the evidence before her properly and

erroneously found/held that there was deliberate manipulation of
entries in the Declaration of Results Forms which had a significant
impact on the fina1 tally.

1 5. The trial judge erred in law and fact when she allowed the
petitioner/ respondent depart from his pleadings hence occasioning
a miscarriage of justice.

The appellant prayed that this court allows the appeal and sets aside

the orders of the trial judge. The respondent opposed the appeal.

Counsel for the appellants filed their joint written submissions, as

directed by court, on Sth March 2022. The respondent's counsel filed a
reply on 1 1th March 2022. The appellants then filed a rejoinder on 19th

Aprll 2021. This appeal was thus disposed of on the basis of written
submissions on1y.

The Submissions of counsel
I have considered the submissions of counsel liled in the appeal and the

authorities that they cited and supplied to support them. I will not set
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out the submissions here but will review them as I dispose of the various
grounds of appeal.

However, I note that in their submissions, counsel for the respondent
raised a preliminary point of iaw that grounds 3,6,7,9, 11, 12 and 15

were framed in a manner that was contrary to rule 86 (1) of the Rules

of this Court. They.prayed that the said grounds of appeal be struck
out. I shall therefore address this complaint before I dispose of the rest
of the grounds of appeal.

Determlnatlon oJ the prellmlnary point of lau

In their submissions, counsel for the respondents framed an issue
whether this court should strike out grounds 3, 6,7,9, ll, 12 and 15

of the appeal for offending rule 86 (1) ofthe Court ofAppeal Rules. They

specified their complaints as is shr-rwn below:

i) Ground 3 did not specify the context under which the trial
judge misapplied the law relating to ballot stuffing;

ii) Ground 6 did not specify the parts of the respondent's evidence

that was regarded as hearsaY;

iii) Ground 7 did not specify the objections raised by the appellants
in respect of the voters' registers and the erroneous decision

that was made bY the trial judge;

iv) Ground 9 did not specify the remaining evidence that the trial
judge did not put to proper scrutiny and the wrong conclusion
that she arrived at;

v) Ground 1 1 did not specify the revelations that were unearthed
through the interlocutory applications and which specific

applications theY referred to;

vi) Ground 12 did not specify the wrong decision that the triai
judge arrived at, and the specihc ballot box among the 61 ballot
boxes from the polling stations in Buwekula South

ConstituencY; and finallY that,
vii) Ground 15 did not specify how the respondent departed from

his pleadings and how the trial judge allowed this'

When these appeals were consolidated on the 28th March 2O22, it was

with a view to expediting the hearing and conclusion of the two disputes

between the parties here. The respondent's advocates did not inform

court or bring it to the attention of the appellants that they would raise

any preliminary points of law or objections in the appeal' They also did
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not bring up the issue at the scheduling conference that was held before

the Registrar of this court earlier on.

The appellants' counsel had been given up to the 12th April 2O22 to fi,\e
their rejoinder. Due to the delay occasioned by the respondent, they
filed the rejoinder on 19tt' April 2022. Due to an error in the
transmission of documents within the court, we did not get to see the
rejoinder until 22"4 Aprll 2022.

By letter dated the 12th April 2022, the 2"d appellant's counsel prayed

that court considers the appeal without the respondent's reply.
However, this court cannot be moved by letter. Court shall instead
exercise its jurisdiction according to law and the Court of Appeal Rules

to dispose of the preliminary point raised by the respondent.

It is my view that counsel litigating in electoral matters in this court
mr.rst be aware that the court has a limited time frame within which to

dispose of them, according to section 66 (21 of the Parliamentary
Elections Act. Delay, even when it goes to the root of the dispute, is
therefore not looked on kindly by this court. It has also long been the
practice in the courts that preliminary points of law should be raised at
the earliest possible opportunity in the course of any proceeding.

I observed that the grounds ofappeal in EPA 73 and 74 of 2O2l did not
change even after the two appeals were consolidated. Further, that the
respondent had the Memoranda of Appeal in both appeals as far back
as November 2O2l wL,en they were liled in this court. It is evident from
the Scheduling Memorandum that his advocates did not raise any
complaint about the grounds of appeal at that Conference. Neither did
they raise any when they appeared before us on 28th March 2022. 1 am

therefore surprised that counsel had the audacity to raise the
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I recall that during the proceedings before us on 28th March 2022, the
respondent was directed to file his reply to the appellants' submissions

s by 8th April 2022 , but he did not do so. However, the afltdavit of service

of Bandale Isaac, sworn on 12th Aprll 2022 and hled in this court on the

same day, shows that his lawyers, Sebunya Paul & Co Advocates,
received the Consolidated Memorandum of Appeal and the appellant's
submissions on Sth Aprii 2022. Tlne respondent therefore had ample

10 time to file a reply after service on him of the two documents. But
instead of filing submissions in reply by 8ttr April 2022, the respondent's
advocates frled his reply on llth Aprll 2022.



preliminary point(s) above after the appellant had hled and served them
with their submissions, even after they frled their response 4 days after

the date on which this court directed them to do so.

I noted that the respondent, in the alternative, also ably responded to

the contested grounds of appeal. Secondly that the preiiminary point
raised by his advocates was merely on the pleadings and was not

intended to dispose of the whole appeal; it was only meant to delimit
what this court could or could not consider in the appeal. As a result, I

shall draw guidance from rule 2 (21 of the Rules of this court which
provides as follows:

(2) l{othing la these Rules shall be taken to llmit or otherwise affect
the inherent power of the court, or the Htgh Cottrt, to make such
orders as mau be necessant for atto;inino the ends of ce or to
prevent abuse of the process of any such court, and that power

shall extend to settlng aslde Judgments whlch have been proved
null and vold after they have been passed, and shall be exerclsed
to preuent abuse o f the process of anu court caused bg d.elaa,
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while it is our bounden duty to prevent abuse of the processes of this
court by dint of the rule above, it is also our statutory duty to prevent

delay in the disposal ofelectoral disputes, as it is provided for by section

66 (21 of the Parliamentary Elections Act. The latter requires this court

to suspend other matters pending before this court, which is prejudicial

to the litigants therein, and dispose of electoral appeals expeditiously.

In the circumstances, I will cannot overlook the disobedience by the

respondent,s advocates to the directives issued by this court to file their

submissions in reply by the 8rh Aprll 2022. Neither can I entertain the

preliminary point raised by the respondent, for the first time in his late

submissions, w.ithout informing and seeking the leave of this court to

do so. This is because it would occasion unnecessary delay in disposing

of these two appeals. For those two reasons, the respondent's

preliminary point on the impropriety of the grounds of appeal is hereby

dismissed.

The Grounds of APPeal

The purpose ofour directive to counsel for the appellants to consolidate

the Memoranda of Appeal in the two appeals before us was to obviate
35
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the possibility of each of them advancing the same grounds of appeal in
the consolidated pieading leading to prolixity of the same' It was

expected counsel to confer with each other and come up with succinct
grounds of appeal, not reproduce what was contained in their initial
Memoranda of Appeal, uerbatim.

Unfortunately, counsel seem to have done exactly that. They added the

seven grounds of appeal in EPA 73 ol 2O2l to the eight in EPA 74 of

2O2l to make 15 grounds in the consolidated memorandum. The result
was to present numerous grounds, some of which were repeated in
different words. Ground 1 of the consolidated pleading is a good

example which, at the risk of repeating myself but for clarity, was as

follows:

" 1 . The learned trial judge ened in latu and fact tuhen she failed to properlg

appraise and euoluate the euidence on record and conseqtentlg
arriued at wrong conclusions that;
i) A total number of 2,69O utere unaccounted for;
ii) That those uere uotes tuhich were giuen to and then cast bg uoters

utho ruere not uerified bg the polling agents in contrauention of
section 1 PE Act;

iii) That the assumption is that 1 ,512 uoters at 6 (six) polling stations
u)ere not legatlg ueified Aet the uotes uere counted as part of the

final tallg of the 3 candidates;
iu) That tlLe prouen defects seiouslg affected the final result of the

election to the extent that the result could no longer reasonoblg be

said to represent the true uill of the majoitg of uoters of
Buutekula South Constituencg ;

u) That the margin betueen the candidates being small, the
euidence teads the court to belieue that the 2"d appellant's uictory
utas seiously in doubt."

I observed that the ground above was ground 1 in EPA 74 of 2021.
Further that in framing it, counsel for the 2"d appellant simply lifted
parts of the findings of the trial judge from the judgment and converted
conclusions reached in the analysis into grounds of appeal' The result
after the consolidation, or even before was a repetition of some of the
substantive grounds of appeal that were framed' For example, at page

52 of her judgment (page 2310 of the record of appeal) the trial judge

made the finding that:

" . .. the prouen defects seiouslg affected the final result of tLrc election to

the ertent that the result could no longer reasonablg be said to represent

the true uill of tLe majoitg of uoters of Buuelatla South Constituencg.
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The margin betueen the candidates being small, the euidence leads the
court to belieue that Museueni's uictory taas seriously in doubt."

Counsel for the 2"d appellant included the findings above in Ground 1

as paragraphs (iv) and (v) thereof. He also framed similar grounds from
the findings of the judge at page 48 of her judgment as paragraphs (i),

(ii) and (iii) of ground 1. There is not an inkling in ground 1 about how
the trial judge erred in law when she made those findings.

However, I have further carefully considered the remaining grounds in

the Consolidated Memorandum of Appeal after striking out ground 1

thereof and find that it wilt be most expedient to deal with the multiple

grounds of appeal according to the main grievances therein as is set out

below.
35

9

I also observed that the complaint in ground 1(i) is the subject of ground
13 of the appeal; while the grievances in ground 1 (ii) and (iii) are the

10 subject of ground 10. Further that the complaints in ground I (iv) and
(v) are the same as those in grounds 3 and 4 of the Consolidated
Memorandum of Appeal.

Rule 86 (1) of the Rules of this court prohibits the filing of memoranda

ofappeal that are prolix; it requires appellants to set forth their grounds

1s of objection in the Memorandum of Appeal concisely. It is therefore

never necessary to state the errors alleged of the trial judge in
paragraphs and sub-paragraphs and narrative as the appellants in this
appeal did. The grounds should be brief specifying the points which are

alleged to have been wrongfully decided; not a rendition or narrative of

20 the findings of the trial judge, which should be reserved for the

submissions of counsel. For those reasons, ground 1in the

Consolidated Memorandum of Appeal is hereby struck out for

contravening rule 86 (1) of the Rules of this court'

Having done so, I am mindful of the fact that counsel for both parties

2s consolidated the grounds of appeal in their submissions, ostensibly to

canvass issues that were similar at the same time. The appellants'

counsel stated that they would address grounds 1, 8, 10 and 72

together; grounds 9, 11 and 14 together; grounds 2 and 7 together; and

grounds 3, 4 and 13 together. They addressed grounds 5 and 6
30 separately. counsel for the respondent planned to respond in similar

fashion.

1t 'r.^
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Grounds 2 and 11 will be addressed together, while grounds 3,6' 8,9
and 13 will also be addressed together. I shall next address grounds 7,

5 and 12 together, while grounds 5 and 10 will also be addressed

together. We I will finally dispose of grounds 4 and 14 together.

Determination of the aPPeal

Duty of the court

The duty of this court, as a first appellate court, is stated in rule 3O (1)

of the Judicature (Court of Appeal Rules) Directions, SI 13-10. It is to
re-appraise the whole of the evidence adduced before the trial court in
order for it to reach its own conclusions, both on the facts and the 1aw.

But in doing so the court should be mindful of the fact that it did not
observe and hear the testimonies of the witnesses (See Kifamunte
Henry v. Uganda, SCCA 10 of 19971.

It is therefore my bounden duty to consider all the evidence that was

adduced before and admitted onto the record by the trial court while I

resolve the complaints raised by the appellants about the decision. I

now proceed to do so.

Grounds 2 and 77

The gist of ground 2 was that the trial judge admitted and relied on the

Declaration of Results Forms (DR Forms) and the Voters' Registers (VR)

yet the two were neither pleaded in the petition nor proved in the

afhdavit accompanying the petition; while the complaint in ground I 1

was that the judge misdirected herself when she relied on revelations
which were not pleaded but obtained through interlocutory
applications.

Submissions of counsel
With regard to ground 2, the appellants' counsel submitted that the trial
judge relied on the Voters' Register which was neither pleaded in the
petition nor alluded to in the affidavits nor identified or tendered in
evidence in court during the hearing. Counsel asserted that this was a

misapprehension by the court which prejudiced the appellants. Court
was referred to rule 15 ( 1) of the Parliamentary Elections (lnterim
Provisions) Rules (SI 141-2) hereinafter referred to as the Election

Petition Rules, which provides that evidence in eiection petitions shall

be by afhdavits read in open court. The appellants' counsel also relied

on the decision in Muyanja Simon v. Kenneth Lubogo & Electoral
10
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Commission, Court of Appeal Election Petition Appeal No 82 of
2O16, where it was held that it is envisaged that the inquiry in an
election petition is the observance of the due process of a trial. That the
parties, not the court have a duty to adduce evidence.

The appellants' counsel went on to submit that the alleged irregularities
in the voters' register only came up in the respondent's ltnal
submissions before the trial court. Counsel further asserted that the
voters' register was filed and marked after the hearing had closed,

because the hearing closed on 14th September 2O2l as it is shown at
page 489 of the record of appeal, but the voters register was filed and

served on the 1Sth September 2021. The advocates then complained that
in the circumstances, the appellants could not seek leave to call any
witness to verify whether the booklets that were produced comprised of
the genuine register that was used during the polls since availing the

register turned into a ballot opening exercise.

Counsel went on to assert that it was established that the ballot boxes

which contained the VR were found to have been tampered with. That

the VR were only marked by the court but not admitted in evidence.

Neither were the appellants given an opportunity to cross examine the

deponent on the said piece of evidence. It was finally submitted that the

introduction of the VR procured without the participation of the

appellants at the stage of the submissions was a tactic to ambush the

appellants because it denied them the opportunity to call witnesses to

either rebut or confirm the allegations about irregularities in the

impugned register. They prayed that ground 2 be allowed.

In their joint submissions frled on sth April 2022, al page 7 thereof the

appellant stated that they would address grounds 9, 11 and 14 "tt'tith
otlrcr similar grounds." However, it seems they forgot to indicate where

they dealt with these three grounds ofappeal; or they did not specifically

address them.

In reply to the appellants' submissions on ground 2, counsel for the

respondent submitted that the respondent/ petitioner did plead that the

votes that were cast were more than the voters that participated in the

election, according to the VR. Further that this confirmed that there was

ballot stuffing, multiple voting, pre-ticking of ballots and manipulation

of the VR. They added that this confirmed that the appellant No.1 fail:d
to control the distribution and use of ballot papers at polling stations.
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Counsel referred us to the petition at page i 1 and 12, Vol 1 ofthe record
of appeal.

The respondent's counsel emphasized that not only did the respondent
complain about the VR in the petition but he also alluded to it in his
affidavit accompanying the petition. The respondent's advocates further
contended that the case of Muyanja Simon (supra) which the

appellants relied upon did not apply to the situation at hand.

Counsel went on to submit that there is no doubt that the petition was

served upon the l"t appellant who was the custodian of all election
material used during and after the polls. In spite of that, the l"t
appellant chose not to rebut the contents of paragraph 13' 1.12 of the
petition and 14. 1 . 1 1 of the aflidavit accompanying the petition by

atraching the relevant VR to her answer to the petition. Section 52 of
the Parliamentary Elections Act was referred to in support of this
submission.

The respondent's advocates further explained that when the l"t
appellant chose not to rebut the allegations in the respondent's petition,
the latter was left with no option but to apply for discovery of the Voters'
Register. As a result, the 1st appellant availed certilied copies of the
register to the respondent. Counsel relied on the decision in Levl
Slminyu Makali v. Koyi John Wakule & Others, Kenya High Court
Election Petition No. 4 of 2017, as persuasive authority for the
assertion that any docurrrents produced or discovered in an election
petition hearing go to proving or disproving the grounds that are already
stated in the petition.
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The respondent's advocates went on to clarify that the trial court
ordered the 1*t appellant to avail to the respondent certil-red copies of
the VR for a1l polling stations in Buwekula South Constituency and the
documents were availed pursuant to the order. Further, that the time
within which to fiie and serve the certified copies of the VR was agreed

upon by the parties in court as the 15s September 202 1. That it was

therefore surprising that the appellants now dispute the authenticity of
the certified copies of the VR, yet certiflcation was done by ofhcials of
the l"t appellant. Our attention was drawn to the fact that the

appellants did not raise this objection before the trial court in their
submissions and it is being advanced here for the first time.



Similar to the appellants' counsel, the respondent's counsel offered no

submissions on grounds 1 1 of the appeal, obviously because there was

nothing to respond to. I therefore came to the conclusion that the

appeliants abandoned ground i 1 of the appeal, and I find so.

5 Resolutlon of Ground 2

10

In order to answer the question whether the appellant offered any
pleadings about the VR it is to the pleadings that I must go. In his
petition which appeared at pages 5- 16, Volume I ofthe record ofappeal,
in paragraph 13.1.12 of the petition the respondent pleaded thus:

.13.1.12 The uotes cast as contained in the ballot boxes of all polling stations

in Buttekula South Constituencg Mubende Distict are more than
the uoters that participated in the uoting exercise as per the voters'
reolsters for the oolllno stctions uhich confinns thot there uas
ballot stuffrng, muttiple uoting, pre-ticking of ballots and
manloulatlon of the uoters' reolster whlch dlso finns15

thot the 2"r, re ndent falled to contro I the dlstrlbutlon
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and use of ballot o a,Ders dt those oolllno stdtions ctnd this

wos contrary to section 12 (1) (b) of the Electoral Commission Act,

Cap. 14O and 27 (a) Parliamentary Elections Act' 2OO5'"

lBmPhrrsls suPPlled')

There is therefore no doubt in my minds that one of the respondent's

complaints in the petition was about the rnanipulation of the VR, or the

ballots that were cast without complying with the contents of the VR.

The appellant,s counsel complained that there was no affidavit evidence

to support this contention, allegedly because the respondent's affidavit

accompanyingthepetitionwasexpungedfromtherecordbythetrial
judge.Iobservedthattheappellantsobjectedtorelianceonthe
iespondent,s aflidavit on the ground that it contained hearsay evidence

and contravened the provisions of rlrder 19 rule 3 sub rule 1' However'

the objection was overruled by the trial judge who considered it from

pages 8 to 9 of her judgement, where she observed and ruled as follows:

"Hotueuer,thisisanobjectionthatMuseueni'scounselshouldhaue
raised at the inception of the proceedings lnstead' theg held onto the

objection and admitted that euidence duing scheduling of the motter'

Theg euen u)ent ahead to engage Tumutesigge in lengthA cross

examination on all his euidence, the impugned paragraphs inclusiue' The

EuidenceActdoesnotstictlgapplytoaJfidauiteuidenceandittllouldbe
13
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dis judicious (sic) to seuer parTs of an affdauit, at the tail end of the tial,
especiallg an affidauit tuhose deponent was subjected to exLtaustiue
cross examination. Museueni's counsel haue onlg themselues to blame.

Furthef, I note that under Order 19 n 3 (2), parts of an alfidauit need not
necessailg be expunged. Instead the Courl maA consider anuarding costs
against a partg utho files an affidauit uith matters of hearsag. I choose
therefore to leaae the qfftdautt intdct. I u-till consider Tumutesigae's
euidence both the pleadings and in Court as a uthole. It tuill be possible
then to deterrnine u.that amounts to hearsag; once that is done, it can be
dealt with as euidence eualuoted in line uith the CPR and Euidence Act.

The first objection accordinglg fails."

{Emphasls s-rtpplted}

That being the case, there also remains no doubt that the allegations
about manipulation of voters' registers were supported by averments in
the respondent's affidavit accompanying the petition, pa-rticularly in
paragraph 14.1.11. The averments in that paragraph where a replica of
the contents of paragraph 13.1.12 ofthe petition.

In addition, the respondent was cross examined at length regarding the
averments in his afhdavit in support of the petition. The trial judge
mentions it in her ruiing, therefore I have no doubt that the court relied
upon the relevant parts of the respondent's affidavit in its inquiry.

In conclusion therefore ground 2 of the appeal fails.

Ground 3, 6, 8, 9 and 13

The complaints in these hve (5) grounds of appeal are about principles
of the law of evidence and how the trial court evaluated it. Ground 3
was a complaint that the trial judge misapplied the law on ballot stuffing
and therefore came to the wrong conclusion that it occurred, while
ground 6 was the grievance that the trial judge disregarded the 2"d
appellant's objections about major parts of the respondent's evidence
being hearsay and therefore arrived at a wrong decision based on
hearsay evidence. In ground 8 the appellants' complaint was that the
trial judge shifted the burden of proof onto the 1"t appellant in respect
of the alleged missing voters'registers. This ground is related to ground
13 in which the appellants' complaint rr"'as that the judge erred when
she found that a total of 2,690 votes were unaccounted for, without
carrying out a vote recount. In ground 9 the appellants were aggrieved
that after the judge expunged the petitioner's affidavit accompanying
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the petition, the trial judge did not put the remaining evidence to proper
scrutiny and therefore arrived at wrong conclusions.

Regarding the complaint in ground 9, I reproduced the ruling of the trial
judge in which she considered the prayer to expunge the respondent's

affrdavit accompanying his petition and rejected it, at page 17 of this
judgment. The complaint that she failed to use the rest of the evidence

and properly scrutinise it is therefore not tenable, because she did not

expunge the said affidavit. I therefore need not resolve ground 9 because

the trial judge made the decision to leave the affidavit accompanying

the petition whole.

That being the case ground 9 of the appeal was erroneously framed

because it was based on the incorrect fact that the trial judge expunged

the affidavit accompanying the petition. I therefore find that ground 9

ofthe appeai cannot stand; it has to fail.

Having found so, I will now consider the principles relating to hearsay

evidence contained i.n the 2"a appellants' objection before the trial court

and whether the trial judge shifted the burden of proof about the

missing VR onto the 1"t appellants, and if so, whether it was correct to

do so, as well as whether the trial judge ought to have ordered a recount

of the votes, as it was proposed in ground 13; and whether the trial
judge misapplied the law on baliot box stuffing.

Submissions ol Counsel

with regard to the contention that the trial judge erroneously denied

the 2'a appellant's objection about hearsay evidence in ground 6, the

appellant's counsel submitted that paragraphs 11, 12, 13, 14'l'6,
t4.t.7, 14.1.8, 14.1.10, 74.1.12.1' 14.7.12.2, 14.1.13, 14'1'13,

14.1.18, 14.1.19 and' 14.2, of the respondent's affidavit accompanying

the petition offended the provisions of Order 19 rule 3 (1) of the Civil
procedure Rules (cPR) because they amounted to hearsay evidence. The

objection was also considered by the trial judge but it was overruled in

the manner that I have shown above.

The appellants' advocates went on to submit that Order 19 rule 3 (1)

provides that aflidavits shall be confined to such facts as the deponent

is able of his or her own knowledge to prove, except in interlocutory

applications. That the stated paragraphs offended this rule and the trial

lrag. e.."a when she overruled the objection' Counsel relied on the
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With regard to the complaint that the trial judge erroneousiy shifted the
burden of proof onto the l"t appellant, counsel for the appellants
asserted that the onus is upon the petitioner who seeks the annulment
of an election to adduce cogent and credible evidence to prove the
grounds that he or she relies upon, to the satisfaction of court. That
this burden is fixed at the onset of the trial and unless circumstances
change, it remains unchanged. Counsel relied on the decisions of this
court in Freda Nanziri Kase Mubanda v. Mary Babirye Kabanda,
Election Petition Appeal No 38 of 2O16 and Paul Mwiru v Igeme
Nathan Nabeeta & 2 Others, Election Petition Appeal No 6 of2O11.

Counsel further submitted that it was a misapprehension by the trial
judge to shift the burden onto the l"t appellant, when she made the
finding that there were no voters' registers at some polling stations when
there was no affidavit evidence or testimony in court to prove this fact.
That the same principle applies to the finding in her judgement that
2,690 votes were not accounted for, simpiy because of discrepancies in
the voters'register which were explained away by the evidence of DW4.

Regarding the complaint in ground 3 that the trial judge misapplied the
law relating to ballot stuffing and so came to a wrong conclusion that
the petitioner/ respondent proved it, the appellants' counsel offered no
submissions at all. It is therefore not surprising that counsel for the
respondent also did not address it. I would hold that it was abandoned
by the appellants but there is evidence relating to the concept of ballot
stuffing before us. I therefore must address it.

16

10

15

30

decision in Nsubuga Jonah v. Electoral Commission, Election
Petition No. 34 of 2OLl, and went on to submit that once an illegality
is brought to the attention of court it overrides a1i pleadings. It was also
contended for the 2"d appellant that the said objection was raised in
time and it was a point of law that this court should reconsider and set
aside the findings of the trial judge by expunging the contested
paragraphs of the afhdavit accompanying the petition.

The appellants' counsel went on to submit that unless and until the
petitioner discharges the evidential burden an election is presumed

20 valid. Further, that the success of a candidate who has won at an
election should not be lightly interfered with, as it was held by the
Supreme Court of India in Jeet Mohinder Singh v. Harmider Singh
Jassi, AIR 2OOO SC 258.
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The appellants offered no submissions about ground 13, the complaint
that the trial judge ought to have ordered for a vote recount before she

came to her conclusion that 2,690 votes were unaccounted for. As a
result, the respondent did not respond to it either. The appellants
therefore appear to have abandoned ground 13 of the appeal.

In reply to the contention that the respondent's affidavit accompanying
the petition contained hearsay evidence, counsel for the respondent

submitted that this objection was not one of the issues formulated at
the scheduling conference for disposal by this court. It was further
submitted that according to rule 17 of the Election Petition Rules the

applicability of the Civil Procedure Act and the Rules thereunder is

subject to the Election Petition Rules, with such modihcations as the

court may consider in the interests of justice and expediting the
proceedings.

Counsel went on to submit that the impugned paragraphs of the

affidavit accompanying the petition were not hearsay because the

respondent did not state therein that this evidence was sourced from

3rd parties. That rather, the appellants' issue was that this evidence was

not corroborated; but uncorroborated evidence is not necessarily

hearsay evidence. We were referred to the decision in the often cited

case of Kiiza Besigye v. Museveni Yoweri Kaguta & Another'
Supreme Court Presidential Election Petition No I of 2OO1, for the

submission that courts have to adopt a liberal approach when dealing

with affidavits in election petitions.

Counsel finally submitted that the impugned paragraphs of the

respondent's afhdavit accompanying the petition were not part of the

relevant evidence that formed the hnal decision of the trial court. It was

then explained that the trial court relied on the contents of paragraph

14.l.lland14.l.16.Thatasaresultground6oftheappeallacksmerit
and should be resolved in the negative-

with regard to the complaint that the trial judge shifted the burden of

proof onto the 1st appellant, counsel for the respondent in this court

submitted that in the case of Rehema Tiwuwe watongola v. salaamu

Musumba, Court of Appeal Election Appeal No' 27 of 2O16, it was

held that there must be ciear evidence creating doubt in order for the

burden of proof to shit from the petitioner to the respondent'
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Counsel further referred us to the decision in Raila Amolo Odiaga &
Another v. Uhuru Muigai Kenyatta, Kenya Supreme Court
Presidential Petition No 1 of 2O17, where that court explored the
concept of the shifting burden in such matters. Counsel then went on
to submit that though the court in that case held that the legal and
evidential burden of establishing facts which will support a party's case
is static and remains constant throughout a trial with the plaintiff,
depending on the effectiveness with which he or she discharges it, the
evidential burden keeps shifting and its position at any time is
determined by answering the question as to who would lose if no further
evidence were introduced.

The respondent's advocate went further to explain that in the case now
before us, the respondent pleaded, in paragraph 13.1.12 of the petition
and paragraph 14. 1 . I I of the afirdavit accompanying it, that the
number of voters who participated in polling was proved to have been
less than the votes that were cast and counted. That this was reflected
in the DR Forms and the Return Form for Transmission of Results.
Counsel charged that the appellants did not disprove this fact. That
similarly, they did not disprove the fact that 6 out of 61 polling stations
in the Constituency did not have voters'registers, as it was shown in a
table at pages 1974-1979 ofthe Supplementary Record ofAppeal.

Counsel continued that the 1"t appellant could have ably responded to
the evidence that there were 2,690 votes that were not accounted for
and 1,512 unverified voters in her reply to the petition and the affidavit
in support thereof, and any other evidence, but she did not do so. That
this was especially so because the 1st appellant is the custodian of all
materials that were used during the polls. Counsel added that counsel
for the 1"t appellant did not cross examine the respondent on paragraph
13.1.12 of the petition and paragraph 14.1.11 of his affidavit. Instead,
he provided certified copies of the voters'register which were tendered
as evidence in court which confirmed the discrepancies. That after this
e'"rdence was admitted, the burden of proof shifted to the 1st appellant
to prove otherwise.

The respondent's advocates went on to submit that the trial court could
not have relied on the testimony of DW4, in cross examination, that the
VR and Biometric Voters Verification Kits (BWK) were used at all
polling stations, without corroboration. That DW4 had the opportunity
during cross examination to apply for leave to bring these instruments
to account for the votes that were alleged not to be accounted for, and
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Resolutlon of Grounds 3, 6 and 8

Hearsa u Euidence

Black's Law Dictionary (9'n Edition, West) defines the expression

"hearsag" t}:us:

"Traditionally, testimonA that is giuen bg a tuitness tuho relates not uhat
she or he knouLs personallg, but uthat others haue said, and that is
therefore dependent on the credibilitg of someone other than the

uitness."

Section 1 ofthe Evidence Act excludes affidavits from the application of

the general rules of evidence in the Act when it provides as follows:

'1. Appllcatlon. Thls Act shall apply to all Judlclal proceedlngs in
or before the Supreme Court, the Court of Appeal, the High

Court and all courts establlshed under the Magistrates Courts
Lct, but not to a,fftdajlrlts D"esented to o,nu court or offlcer ,n.ot

to proceedings before an arbltrator. "
{Emphasls supplted.}

However, order 19 rule 3 cPR provides for matters to which affidavits

shali be confined as follows:

"(1) Afndavtts shall be conflned to such facts as the deponent ls

able of his or her own knowledge to Prove ' excePt ott

interlocutory applicatlons, on which statemetrts of hls or her

belief may be admitted, provtded that the grounds thereof are

stated.

(2iThecostEofeveryaffidavltwhichshallunnecessarllysetforth
matters of hearsay or argumertatlvc metter or coples of or

extracts from documents shall, unless the court otherrise
dlrects' be pald by the party flltng the afll&vlt'"

The appellants offered very brief submissions on this point' They did

not explain why they thought that the statements in the impugned

paragraphs of the afhdavit amounted to hearsay evidence' yet it appears
35
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the voters that were not verified before casting their ballots, but this
was not done. Counsel asserted that the burden to prove whether voters

at the six (6) polling stations were verified was again on the lst appellant,
not the polling agents. That as a result, ground 8 of the appeal should
fail.
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that during his cross-examination of the respondent, Mr. Medard
Segona laid ground for arguments on this point. I will therefore consider
the whereabouts ofthe respondent on polling day to enable us establish
how he came by the information stated in the impugned paragraphs of
his afhdavit before I arrive at my decision.

At page 2O98, Vol. I of the record, Mr. Segona asked the respondent to
account for his time on poiling day. He did so from page 2098 to 2100.
He stated that he was at his home before he went to vote at Kinyiga
Poliing Station. That he left home at about 1.0O pm and went to that
station where he cast his ballot when it was approaching 3.OO pm. The
respondent further stated that he left the polling station at 3.OO pm and
went back to his home. Further that he did not go anyrvhere else that
day apart from Kinyiga Polling Station; not even to the Ta1ly Centre.

I observed that in the impugned paragraphs of the contested afhdavit,
the respondent made statements as though he was present when the
incidents he narrated occurred. He did not state how he got the
information that he sought to rely upon, save that in paragraph 2O

thereof he states as follows:

"I stuear this alfdauit in support of mg petition to this Honourable Court
and tuhateuer, (sic) I haue stated herein is tnle to the best of mg

knotuledge and bellef saue for what I based on infonnation from sources
disclo sed thereunder. "

There is not a single paragraph in the affidavit in which the respondent
disclosed any source of information for his averments. Instead, he

details alleged electoral offences that he says took place in multiple
polling stations, despite the fact that during the polls he was at his
home. In particular, I observed that in paragraph 14.1.13 of his affidavit
he complained about changes in the voters' roll regarding the polling
stations of various voters as follows:

"Contrary to uhat uas reflected on the uoters register during (the) display
exercise pior to the polling dag and uLithout ang complaint or
permissions from the affected registered uoters (me and mg familg
inclusiue), some registered uoters of Buuektla Constituencg Mubende
Ddstict (me and mg family inclusiue) utere denied uoting at polling
starions theg/ ue uere attributed to during the uoter displag exercise and
u)e Luere on the polling dag uhen we reported for uoting exercise asked
bg the presiding offcers of the 2"d respondent to moue from one polling
station to another checking for our names uLhich made mong uoters to
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giue up because of transport constraints and frustration; this was most

preualent where some uoters had to moue from Bulima to Kgakadali
Catholic Clurch, Kiranggwa P/ S, Maleete Trading Centre, Kalembe

Trading Centre to Kagunga areas and these are areas where I haue

strong support going bg the results of the National Resistance Mouement

Partg pimoies. ..."

While it is true, according to an exhibit marked uPW6,n at page 44,Yol.
4 of the record, that the respondent's designated polling station
according to the voter's polling information, was Kalembe TC, when he

was cross-examined, he did not narrate how he finally identified and

located his changed polling station to Kinyiga, where he cast his ballot.

If that was the case, he ought to have stated what he saw at the various

stations that he went to before he finally got to Kinyiga where he

eventually voted. If his family members told him what they saw or heard,

he ought to have disclosed so as he narrated the said events in his

accompanying affidavit.

The respondent similarly narrated incidents at various polling stations

in paragraphs 14.1.6 to 14.1.10, and l4.l.l2 to l4.l'12.2 without
stating how and from who he got this information, yet during cross-

examination by Mr. Segona, at page 2 1 03 and 2lO4 , Yo14 of the record,

he admits that he got information from his polling agents and voters'

On their part, the respondent's counsel argued that the statements

could not have been hearsay because the respondent did not state in
any of them that he received the information therein from someone else.

I think that in order to redeem their client, perhaps counsel ought to

have referred us to the 34 additionai affidavits which were struck off the

record by the trial judge for failure to comply with the requirements of

the Illiterates Protection Act, but they did not do so. I say so because in

paragraph i 1 of the accompanying affrdavit which adverted to

additional evidence.

Nonetheless, it needs not be gainsaid that the contested paragraphs of

the respondent,s accompanying afhdavit amounted to hearsay evidence.

It also has been long settled that such evidence is not admissible in

election petitions. In Muhindo Rehema v. winfred Kiiza, Election

PetitionAppealNo.2gof2oll,thiscourthadthistosayabout
similar affidavits:

,,Electionpetitionsarenotinterlocutoryopplicationsandtherefore
hearsag euidence is not admissible, Beslgge os' Museaenl (supra)' the
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appellant's ttuo affidauits did not disclose the source of infonnation
concerning polling stations in Kasese on the polling dag. SLrc could not

haue been euerywhere at the same place to uitness the process.

The trial judge properlg excluded euidence from the appellant's tuo
affidauits that regarded euents uhich took place in her absence, and
(tuhich she) could not therefore 'proue of her own knoutledge.'

In these cases, the candidates relg on the appointed agents and os such

should haue inctuded that specif.c source of infonnation in the affidavits
or else filed separate affidauits from the agents LDho tuitnessed the

occurrences. The learned trial judge cannot be faulted ouer this aspect

of tlLe matter."

The learned trial judge in this case correctly found that parts of the

affidavit contained hearsay evidence. But she decided to leave the

affidavit intact and consider the respondent's evidence, the pieadings,

and other evidence adduced in court. I assume that her reference to
evidence in court in her decision meant the evidence that would come

out of cross-examination of the respondent by opposing counsel.

Unfortunately, counsel for the 2"d appellant did not cross examine on

the alleged offences, perhaps because there was no evidence left in that
regard on the record. He carefully steered clear of the offences and
focused on whether or not the respondent in this appeal made any
reports to the police about them, and the alleged assault and kidnap of
Charles T\rmusiime by the supporters of the 2"d appellant. T\:musiime's
afhdavit was the only additional afhdavit in support of the petition that
was not expunged from the record.

For the 1"t appellant, Mr. Twinamatsiko's focus was on allegations about
non-use of the BWK at several polling stations and the inconsistencies
in the DR Forms. He also sought to prove that the respondent did not
report the alleged electoral offences to the Electoral Commission. He did
not go into the details of the allegations.

In her evaluation of the evidence before court the trial judge, correctly
in my opinion, considered the alleged offences, viz: bribery, violence and
intimidation, and uttering false, defamatory and sectarian statements.
She considered the contents of the respondent's afl-ldavit regarding
allegations of bribery, which was not oral but only in his affidavit.
However, she discounted it and found that it was not proved due to the

absence of cogent evidence because the affidavit of Settabi David who

deposed about the alleged incidents was expunged earlier on in the
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proceedings. In addition, the respondent had no proof that he reported
the alleged offences to the Police or officials of the Electoral Comrnission.

With regard to the allegations of violence and intimidation, the trial
judge found that the offences were proved. She relied upon averments
in the affidavit and the testimony of Charles T\rmusiime who adduced

evidence that he was attacked by the supporters of the 2"a appellant,
and that thereafter his injuries were treated at a health facility' The trial
judge found that as he stated in his affidavit and confirmed in cross-

examination, his complaint was valid and it was never rebutted. That
nonetheless, he did not prove that the violence was from supporters of
the 2"a appellant; neither did he prove that it was the same supporters
who kidnapped and detained him. She concluded that in order ior
ailegations of violence to succeed to overturn an election, it must be

proved to have been widespread, so affecting the result in a substantial
manner. She ruled that this standard was not satished by the petitioner'

The trial judge also found that the offences of uttering false, defamatory

and sectarian statements were also not proved. She observed that save

for the statements in the respondent/ petitioner's affrdavit in support,
there was no independent evidence to prove them. Further that the

particular statement that was included in his pleadings, that he was a

" State House Agent who is a front for land grabbers in Buu'rckula South

constih,rcncA and elseuhere", was not supported by other cogent

evidence; neither was it proved that as a result of this statement, voters

shunned him. Accordingly, the trial judge concluded that the offences

were not proved.

However, the judge made findings based on the respondent's affidavit
accompanying the petition about inconsistency in ballots recorded by

the l"t appellant's ofhcers, and the failure to verify voters using the VR

and BWK. These findings were not based on hearsay evidence because

the VR and certihed DR Forms were produced in evidence by the

respondent after they were certihed by the lst appellant. The two issues

are the subject of further grounds ofappeal that will be considered later

on in this judgment.

In effect, the trial judge followed the decision of the Supreme Court on

complaints about hearsay evidence in affidavits in election petitions in

Col. (Rtdt Dr, Beslgye Kizza (supra) where the court set the standard

regarding complaints about hearsay evidence in affidavits' Odoki, CJ

had this to say about the matter:
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"In the present case, the only method of adducing euidence is bg

affidauits. Mang of them haue been drown up in a hurry to complg with
time limits for ftling pteading and determining the petition. It ruould cause

great injustice to the parties if all the affidauits ttlhich did not stictlA
conform to the rules of procedure uere rejected. ?his is an exceptional

case (where) all the releuant eudence that is admissible should be

receiued in court. I shall therefore reject those oJfidauits, uhich are based

on hearsag euidence onlg. I shatl accept affidouits, tuhich contain both

admissible ond hearsag euidence but reject the parts uhich are bosed

on hearsag, and onlg partes u.thich are based on knou.tledge will be relied
upon. As order 17 r 3 (2) prouides ,h€ cosrs of affidauits u-thich contain
hearsag matters sltould be borne bg the partg fiIing such affidauits."

The view taken by Tsekoko, JSC (RIP) in his reasoned judgment was not
much different when he observed and held that:

.In a petition, like the present, uthich is presented expeditiously under
special rules as those set out in 5.1. 20O I No. 13, a petitioner uill
ineuitobtg including (sic) hearsag matters in the main affidauit
accompanging his petition- I am not saging that hearsag should be

included detiberatelg. What I belieue happens is that grounds in the

petition ulould most likelg be based on information prouided, in all
probabilitg bg his agents or supporters from uarious parts of the country.

The proper course to take during the inquiry, in such circumstances, is to
consider the petition and the accompanging affidauit and, unless the

aJfidauit contains obuiouslg scandalous or fiuolous matter, finallg reject

anA matters contained in such affidauit as oppear not to haue been

satisfactorilg proued unless perhaps the petition does not disclose a
cause of action. AlternatiuelA, u.there time is still auailable the petitioner
should seek leaue to coffect errors bg tuag of supplementary alf.dauit. h
would be unjust to reject the petitioner's tuhole aff.dauit at the beginning
of the inquiry. In the result, I do not agree, and in any euent, I am not

persuadedl that the accompanging offidauit of the petitioner uiolated

O.17 Rule 3.

In mg opinion it uould be improper in this petition to strike out tuhollg

affidauits tuhich are found to contain so called hearsag euidence in some

parts uhere the offending parts of the same affidauits can be seuered

from the rest of tte alfidauit tuithout rendeirLg the remaining parts
meaningless."

In conclusion, I cannot fault the trial judge for not striking out the
respondent's affldavits as containing hearsay evidence. In view of the
authorities that I have set out above, it would not only be going against
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the principles that have been established by the Supreme Court which
are binding on us, but also pointless to grant the appellants' prayer to

strike out the offending paragraphs at this point in time' Ground 6 of
the appeal therefore must fail.

s The shi burden o roo

The 1"t appellant complains that when the trial judge found and held

that there were no voters' registers at some polling stations she shifted

the burden onto the EC because there was no affidavit evidence to prove

this fact. That the same principle applies to the finding that 2,690 votes

were not accounted for because the discrepancies in the voters'register
were explained away by DW4. It must therefore first be established

whether the trial judge indeed shifted the burden onto the l"t appellant

when she made the two contested hndings in her judgment'
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The statement about the votes that were not accounted for by the l"t
appellant appears at pages 47'48 of the judgment' pages 2305-2306,

Vol. 1 of the record, and was as follows:

"A careful pentsal of the 53 Voters registers/ rolls (Kisengi and Nsuga

excluded) showed glaring discrepancies in the ticked uoters on the VR'

and the total number of ballot papers counted in each DR forms' (sic) For

some polling stations (e.g. Buzooba, Buuumirq Kagunga, Kagoma,

Kibuge Communitg Centre, Kilenge Dispensary A (N Z)) the difference

ranged from a small 1-7 uotes. In others (e.g. Kalembe, Namalewe Life

Centre, Braakago, Mujurutta and Kitotru) differences seen uere a high

(sic) of 287, 253, 227, 198 and 16O uotes, respectiuelg' The result ls
tha:t d total sum of 2.690 aotes ,t cls unqccounted for."

{Emphasls supPlted}

The respondent sought to prove the allegations in paragraphs 13'1'15

to 13. 1 . 1 7 of the petition in which he complained that EC officials made

"ununiform enties,'(sic) and "incorrect eruties of the uote tallies' rn lh.e

DR Forms and the Return Forms for Transmission of Results. That the

said actions of the Presiding and Returning officers affected the

outcome of the election and the final results were based on "graue

nume ical inconsiste ncie s. "

In paragraphs 14.1. 74 lo 74.1' 17 of the accompanying affidavit' the

respondent averred to the alleged inconsistencies, as well as to the fact

that the 1"t appellant's Returning ofhcer failed and/or neglected to

record the complaints made by his polling agents at some of the stations
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about these entries. He attached copies of the DR Forms for all of the
polling stations in respect of which he was given them. However, his
advocates singled out those whose contents they thought contravened
section 76 (f) of the Parliamentary Elections Act. They then carried out
a tally, which they presented to court to show what the respondent
complained about. That summary appears at page 2007, Volume 5 of
the Consolidated Record of Appeal, within their submissions before the
trial court. The impugned polling stations were distinguished from the
rest with a blue highlighter and the trial judge reiied upon this tally to
come to some of her conclusions from the voters' register which she
closely examined.

However, the voters' register was not in court at the time that the
witness from the Electoral Commission was cross examined about her
statement. She was therefore never cross examined about its contents.
Instead, counsel for the respondent cross-examined her about some of
the DR Porms in which inconsistency in the tally of votes was observed.

It is not clear to us whether the allegations about the discrepancies in
the DR Forms pleaded by the respondent were contested by the l"t
appellant in her pleadings. This is because the 1s1 appellant's answer to
the petition and its accompanying affidavit were not included in the
Consolidated Record of Appeal that was placed before us. In the Index
to Volume 1 of the record, the appellant's answer to the petition was
indicated as appearing in Item 5 thereof but there was no such
document in that volume of the record. Neither could I find it elsewhere.

However, the 1"t appellant called Kunihira Christine Fiona, the
Returning Officer/ District Registrar for Mubende, who testified as DW4.
Mr. Twinamatsiko for the respondent cross examined the witness. At
page 67 of the printed record (Vol. 4), Ms Kunihira confirmed that as
Returning Officer, it was her duty to verify the information contained in
the DR Forms before announcing the winning candidate. That it was
also the duty of the Returning Officer to confirm the veracity and
authenticity of the DR Forms.

Ms. Kunihira agreed that in order to establish the number of people who
voted at each polling station, the numbers of men and women who voted
are summed up to get the total number of ballots that were cast. Further
that the number of ballot papers counted should tally with the number
of people who voted at each polling station. Mr. Twinamatsiko then
referred her to the DR Form for Gogwa Trading Centre Polling Station.
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She confrrmed that 256 females and 200 males voted at that station.
However, 457 ballot papers were counted. She explained that the

discrepancy was the result of some ballots being spoilt by the voters.

She further stated that when the total number of ballots is inserted, it
represents all the ballots that were used during the polls at a particular
station.

Mr. TWinamatsiko also drew her attention to the DR Form for Namalewe

Life Centre Polling Station. She conlirmed that according to that Form,

137 women and 138 men voted and the total number of persons that
10 voted was 275. She also said it was true that 4O0 ballot papers were

counted. With regard to Budibaga Polling Station, she admitted that the

DR Form showed that 135 women and 134 men cast their votes' That

the total of ballot papers counted was 268. Counsel then drew her

attention to the crossings in the DR Form. She explained that the EC

1s accounts for crossings by the Presiding officers countersigning against

them. She also observed that at that Polling Station, 175 women and

166 men voted, and that the total number of ballots that were counted

was 357.

The witness was also taken through the ballots and voters at Buwuniro

20 and St Joseph Senkulu, Polling Stations, where there were

inconsistencies between the number of voters recorded in the DR Forms

as having cast ballots, and the total number of ballots that were

counted, as reflected in the DR Forms.

counsel for the first appellant did not seek to redirect this witness in

25 his re-examination about this material point on the discrepancies that
were raised in cross examination. Instead, he sought to establish

whether any of the candidates complained about the discrepancies in

the DR Forms. The witness stated that she got no complaints about this

matter whatsoever, from any ofthe candidates'

30 It was on the basis of the principles established during cross

examination of DW4 that I analysed 17 of the DR Forms for the polling

stationsthatwereidentilredbytherespondent,scounselintheir
submissions. According to my own observations, the summary of the

contents of the DR Forms which the 1"! appellant provided to the

3s respondent, pW7, at page 45, Vol. 4 of the record), for the 17 polling

stations aPPears below:
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Polllnt
Stltlon

Tot.l
t{o. oI
r.J.ctcd
YOtGS

Total

No. of
ballots

countd

Total

No. ot
spollt
ballots

Total

I{o. of
bsllots
lssucd

Total

No. of
unumd
bsllots

Tot.l
No. of
f.mal6
thrt
votd

Tot l

No of
malcs

that
vot€d

Dlrcrepancy

betw!en
ballots
counlad

and ballots

cart

Kibyamirizi

A-Z

250 30 280 00 500 220 118 158

Gogwa T/C 452 05 457 00 850 393 256 200 01

Namalewe 269 06 400 00

400

125 't 37 138 725

Budibaga 243 25 268 02 130 135 134 1,

Buwu niro 301 o4 305 00 s00 195 159 147 1

Lwemigo 03 427 00 650 229 227 195 1.

Kirumbi 05 379 00 s50 1,71 t70 208 1

Kinyiga A 489 72 561 02 850 287 310 2

Kalonga TC 420 36 456 00 800 344 313 143 00

Kijuuya 267 11 270 05 450 138 135 1

Kagoma 345 15 361 00 6s0 297 762 191 08

St Joseph's

Sen ku lu

L74 00 200 00 11,4 86 64 50 86

Butayunja o4 00 750 392 144 198 366

Rus iki 366 33 336 02 234 1,70 1

Kawumulo 02 450 450 21,5 1,21 116 213

Lukaya 297 )) 03 500 138 164 17

Nsengwe 364 369 00 287 1,7 5 199 5

Total 274 14 9664 39 50

Total No ofvotes cast by men and women in the 17 polling stations 5,767

From the analysis above, there appears to be a discrepancy between the

ballots counted and the number of men and women who cast ballots.
In cross-examination by counsel for the 2"d appellant, Mr. Asiimwe,
DW4 stated that the total number of males and females that voted

reflected in the DR Forms did not necessarily reflect the total number
of votes attributed to each of the candidates. She also confirmed this
when she was re-examined by Mr. Musinguzi for the l"t appellant.

Court sought clarity about this evidence by asking the witness to
explain the number of ballots and voters that were reflected in the DR

10 Form for Namalewe Life Centre Polling Station' This was most probably
because while the total number of men and women who polled at that
station totalled 275, llre total number of ballots that was counted,
including the valid, rejected, spoiit and the invalid votes totalled 400

ballots, yet the sum total of men and women who cast their ballots was

ls 275.

-- 
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400
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374

713

352 708

600 195

234 00

319 178
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5

The witness tried to tally the figures but half way through the process,

she admitted that there was confusion in the record in the DR Form.

However, the formula was through examining her established by the

court. The total number of ballots counted at each polling station had

to be equal to the valid votes at that poliing station, plus the rejected

and spoilt votes. The ballots counted obviously had to be equal to the

number of men and women that cast their ballots'

It then becomes clear to us that there were grave discrepancies between

the numbers of ballots that were cast and the number of persons said

to have cast their ballot papers at the impugned 17 polling stations, as

is shown in the above. Interestingly, we also observed that at Budibaga,

Buwuniro, Lwengo, Kirumbi, Kinyiga and Nsengwe Polling Stations,

there were more men and women that cast their ballots than the

number of ballots that were counted by Presiding Officers. This is
reflected as a negative discrepancy in my analysis ofthe contents ofthe
DR Forms.

I further observed that at Kibyamirizi (A-M), Gogwa, Namalewe,

Kagoma, St Joseph's Senkulu, Butayunja, Rusiki, Kawumulo and

Lukaya, there were more ballots that were counted than the number of

females and male voters that cast ballots. Regarding this positive

discrepancy, I also observed that Namalewe, St Joseph's Senkulu,

Butayrrnja and Kawumulo Polling Stations were in the lead with
discrepancies of 725, a6, 366 and 2 1 3 ballots counted more than voters

that cast ballots, resPectivelY.

I am concerned about the large margins between the number of voters

that cast their ballot and ballots that were counted at the 4 polling

stations above. If taken through a scientifrc calculation, which I have

not attempted to do, the margin of error, if it was indeed an error in
entering the figures as counsel for the appellants submitted, would be

very high. This is because there is a discrepancy of 45.45o/o between the

actual number of persons that cast ballots and the ballots that were

counted, 57o/o for St Joseph's Senkulu, 48Yo for Butayunja and 57o/o for

Kawumulo Polling Station.

I have already stated that the trial judge tasked DW4, the witness from

the Electoral commission to explain this discrepancy in the figures for

Namalewe Life Centre Polling Station but she failed to do so' She gave

up during her quick tallying and said there was confusion in the hgures'

I think she could not have explained the rest of the disparities that I
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have pointed out above either, especially the ludicrous negative
disparities that there were less ballots counted as recorded in DR Forms
for some polling stations than the number of voters that cast ballots.

Going back to the gist of the 1"1 appellant's complaint in this regard,
Black's Law Dictionary (supra) defines "burden shifting dnalysis" as:

"A court's scrutinA of a comptainant's euidence to determine uthether it is
sufficient to require the opposing parTA to present contrary euidence."

The respondent's counsel in this case drew our attention to the decision
of the Supreme Court of Kenya in Raila Omolo Odinga (supra) where
the court considered the burden and standard of proof in hearing
electoral disputes. At paragraphs 198 and 199 of his dissenting opinion,
Ndungu, JSC, espoused the decision of the Court in Raila Odinga & 5
Others v. Independent Electoral and Boundaries Commission & 3
Others, Petition 5 of 2O13 [2013] eKLR, and summarized the
principles thus:

[1 98] It is therefore clear that in an election petition the burden of proof at
the uery onset lies on the petitioner to proue the facts that he alleges.
Once the petitioner dischnrges that burden it shf?s to the respondent(s)
to rebut the claims made. This decision utas cited u.ith affirmation in
Munga 2 uthen the Court stated:

[178][178] One of the grounds for impugning the judgment of the
Court of Appeal utas that the Court shified the burden of prooffrom
the petitioner to the 2"d and 3"1 respondents, contrary to the
holding bg this Court in Raila Odingo and Another u. IEBC.
Regarding the burden of proof, this Court held that: - ...a petitioner
should be under obligation to discharge the initial burden of proof
before the respondents are inuited to bear the euidential burden.
The threshold of proof should in pinciple, be aboue the bo,lance
of orobabllltles. thouoh not as hiohcs beuond-reqso nable-
doubt. Where a party alleges non-confonnitg u.tith the electoral
latu, the petitioner must not onlg proue that there has been non-
compliance uith the lau.t, but that sach failure of compliance did
affect the ualidity of the elections. It is on that basis that the
respondents beor the burden of prouing tLrc contrary. [179] We

offirm that this statement represents the legal position regarding
the question of burden of proof in election petitions.

[199] This Court elaborated on the distinction betueen the legal burden
and tle euidentiary burden, noting that the legal burden is the initial
burden on the petitioner to proue the facts pleaded in the petition. Once
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5

the petitioner discharges that legal burden to the standard reqtired, then
the burden shrls to the respondent to disproue those claims; that being

the euidentiary burden. {Mg emphasls}

I am mindful of the fact that the statement about the standard of proof

emphasised above goes against the accepted standard in Uganda in
these matters which is stated in section 61 (3) of the Parliamentary
Elections Act; that the standard of proof is on the balance of
probabilities.

Save for the clear distinction between the legal burden and the

evidential burden, which too is useful in weighing the evidence, the
position in Raila's case is no different from that which was espoused

by the Supreme Court of Uganda in Col. (Rtd) Dr. Besigye K.izza' v
Museveni Yoweri Kaguta & Electoral Commission Election Petition
No 01 of 2OO1, where the court relied on a paragraph from the treatise

Sarkar Lau.t of Euidence, Yol.2 14th Edition, (1993 Reprint) at pages

1338-340 as follows:

"It oppears to me that there can be sulficient euidence to shifi the orrus

from one side to the other if the euidence is sufficient prima facie to

establish the case of the partg on tuhom the onus lies. It is not merelA a

question of taeighing feathers on one sides or the other, and saying that

if there uere tuto feathers on one side and one on the other that could be

suJficient to shifi the onus. What is meant is thdt in the first instance the

partg on uthom the onus lies must proue his case sufficientlg to justifu a
judgment in his fauour if there is no other euidence StoneA u Eastbourne

RD Council (1927) r Ch. s67, s97)."

With that in mind, I find that the trial judge made no error when she

required the witness for the 1"t appellant to clarify the contents of the

DR Forms in issue. I therefore cannot fault the finding that the l"t
appellant failed to account for the disparities in the votes, though it has

been established that the discrepancy in the number of ballots was less

than the trial judge found' This, perhaps, could have been because the

judge also went into analysing the contests of the voters'rolls which she

admitted into evidence. Ground 8 of the appeal therefore fails'
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3s Taegan Goddard's online political dictionary defines ballot stuffing as

follows:



5

"In politics, 'ballot box stuffing' is a tenn that refers to the practice of
illegallg submitting more than one uote in a ballot in u.thich just one uote

is actuallg permitted. The goal of ballot box stuffing is to rig the outcome
of an election in fauor of one candidate ouer another.

The terrn is ofien sgnongmous u.tith 'electoral fraud' or 'uoting
inegulaities.' One fonn of the tactic is leueraging the 'cemetery uote."'

The law against ballot box stuffing is the principle of bne-person-one-
vote' contained in section 31 of the Parliamentary Elections Act. The
provision prohibits each voter from voting more than once in the
following terms:

"lll A person shall not uote or attempt to oote more than once at
anu electlon lrresoecthn of t number of offrces held bu the
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12) For the purposes of ensurlng thet no voter caats a vote more
than once, a preslding ofllcer or a polling asslstant shaU, before
lssulng a ballot paper, lnspect the llngers of any voter ln order
to ascertaln whether or not the voter has been marked with
indellble lnk ln accordance wlth section 3O.

(3) The presldlng olficer or polling assistant, as the case may be,
shall refuse to issue a ballot paper to the voter referred to in
subsection (2) if the presiding oflicer or polling asslstant has
reasonable grounds to believe that the voter has already voted
or if the voter refuses to be inspected under that subsection.

(4) A person who refuses to be inspected under subsection (2) and
votes or attempt to vote commlts an offence and is liable on
convlctlon to a fine not exc€cding twelve cutrency points or
imprisonment not exceeding six months or both."

{Emphasls supp$ed}

I draw particular attention to subsection (1) above, which requires
voters to vote only once and observe that in this case, while the total
number of ballots that were counted at the 17 polling stations that the
respondent complained about was 6,54O, the total number of men and
women that voted was given in the same DR Forms as 5,761, only. This
produces a total discrepancy of 779 ballots against the number of voters
that cast ballots. This discrepancy cannot be explained, except by the
notion that some voters cast more than one bailot, or that some ballots
were placed in the ballot boxes before polling by the voters, or by some
other magical trick!
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I therefore flnd that, even without the voters' rolls, the respondent
proved that the stuffing of ballot boxes did occur in those polling

stations whose results reflected more ballot papers counted than men

and women who cast their ballots' Save for the figures that the trial
s judge arrived at using the voters' register which I did not artalyse for

this purpose, and which are different from my hndings, I find that the

trial judge made no error when she found that there was ballot box

stuffing in the 17 polling stations that were identihed by the respondent.

I also find that though she did not refer to the law, just as the appellants

10 did not in their submissions, the trial judge made no error of in law

either. Ground 3 of the appeal therefore also fails.

I have not comprehensively addressed ground 13, which in my view

appears to have been misplaced in this appeal' Although it was

abandoned, I am inclined to point out that it is not the number of

1s grounds in an appeal that make it successful but the substance ofthose

grounds.

It is clear to us from the submissions of Mr Asiimwe for the 2"d appellant

onlgthSeptember2021,atpages1998-lgggoftherecord,thatthe2"a
appellant opposed any possibility of having a vote recount' He appeared

20 to ride on the fact that the respondent's earlier application before the

Magistrate,s court was denied Mr Asiimwe referred to the failed

apptication and asserted that since it failed, the efforts by the

respondenttohavetheinvalidvotesproducedinevidencewasan
attempt to bring it back and achieve the recount that was earlier denied

2s to him.

counsel went on to state that granting an application for the petitioner

to have access to invalid votes would require opening the ballot boxes.

That his client was not comfortable with that because they were not

sureaboutthesecurityoftheballotboxessincepollingday.Thatfor
30 those reasons, the petitioner's application to bring the invalid votes into

evidence ought to be denied, especially because the earlier application

for a vote recount failed.

Forthelstappellant,MrMusinguzi,atpage2O2loftherecord'also
drew it to the attention of court that what the petitioner sought to

3s achieve by asking for the invalid votes to be pulled out of the ballot

boxes amounted to a vote recount. Further that the application should

notbeallowedbecausethepetitioner,searlierapplicationforavote
recount was unsuccessful.
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5

The trial judge adjourned the matter to deliver a ruling on the
application on 20th September 2021 . At page 2026, there appears a
record that the ruling was read in open court, but there was no reasoned
signed ruling on this matter on the record. Instead, at page 1970 there
appears an order that was extracted by Paul Sebunya & Co. Advocates
and signed by the trial judge stating that the application for discovery
by the petitioner, as against the 2"a respondent, for certified copies of
the invalid votes for all polling stations in the constituency was denied.

In view of the contentions of counsel for both appellant before the trial
court obviating the possibility of recounting the votes, the appellants
could not have desired that the trial judge makes such an order at any
point in time. The contentions of counsel were to forestall the exercise
of the discretion granted to the High Court under section 65 (5) of the
Parliamentary Elections Act to order a recount in circumstances
provided for under section subsection (4) thereof.

Ground l3 was therefore properly abandoned by the appellants because
it was clearly not in their interests, lest this court orders that the
dispute be taken back to the High Court for a recount to be effected.
And if that was the case, it would have been the professional as well as

the courteous thing for the appellants to do, to inform this court that
ground 13 was abandoned.

Grounds 5,7 and 12

The appellants' complaint in ground 7 was that the trial judge erred
when she disregarded the appellants' objections to the use of the voters'
registers that were retrieved from the ballot boxes; and that as a result,
she reached wrong conclusions. In ground 12, the appellants complain
that the trial judge misdirected herself on the law when she relied on
and considered the material that was retrieved from the ballot boxes.
Ground 5 was related to grounds 7 and 72 in that the appellants
complain that the trial judge relied on the said materials contrary to the
law because stamp duty was not paid on obtaining certified copies of
the voters' rolls.

I deemed it fit to consider the three grounds together because it seems
the impugned voters' register and the DR Forms, copies of which were
also retrieved from the ballot boxes were the main pieces of evidence
that led to the impeachment of the election.
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Submissions of counsel

With regard to the use of the voters' register for Buwekula South

Constituency, the appellants' counsel drew it to our attention that they
objected to its use but were overruled by the triai judge' They allege that

s an application for discovery which led to the opening of the ballot boxes

under the guise of obtaining invalid votes was dismissed, but in spite of

that, the ballot boxes were opened' That not only were there no

pleadings advanced with respect to the voters' register but there was

also no evidence by afhdavit in that regard. They further complained

10 that the VRs only came onto the record during the respondent's final
submissions. That it was for that reason that they were filed and

marked after the hearing was closed.

The appeliants' counsel explained that the hearing closed on the l4tt'

September 2O2L and thereafter, on 15d September 2021 ' th,e VRs were

1s filed in court and served on the 2"d appellant. That the appellants could

no longer seek leave to call witnesses to verify whether what was Iiled

were genuine voters' registers used during the polls. They explained that
this was because during the process of certification, which turned into

a ballot opening exercise, it was discovered that some of the ballot boxes

20 had been tampered with because the seals were broken. counsel
asserted that the appellants objected to use of the contents and this

was brought to the attention of the trial judge. They emphasised that
this evidence was compromised and as a result, not credible'

counsel then turned to rule 17 of the Election Petition Rules to support

2s the submission that the procedure ordinarily employed in the disposal

of civil cases in High court was employed in the disposal of the petition-

And that therefore, the parties filed a Joint Scheduling Memorandurn

which was at page 1966, Vol 4 of the record of appeal' Counsel then

drew out attention to clause 9.2 and 9.3 thereof in which it was stated

30 that the voters' register was one of the documents which was not

admitted by the appellants. That because of this, it was only marked

but it was never admitted in evidence. Neither were the appellants given

an opportunity to cross examine the respondent on the contents of the

same.

35Counselwentontoassertthattheappellantsweredeniedthe
opportunity to cross examine the respondent about this document in

orderforhimtoreaffirmtheimputedirregularitiessaidtobeinthe
voters,register.TheyconcludedthattheintroductionoftheVRwhich
wereprocuredwithouttheparticipationofthepartiesandthe
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superintendence of the court at the final stage of the respondent's
submissions amounted to trial by ambush. And that as a result, the
appellants could not call any witnesses to rebut or conltrm the
allegations about irregularities in the VR. Finally, that the trial judge
misdirected herself on the law and came to a wrong decision when she

relied solely on the VR to come to her conclusions.

With regard to the contention that stamp duty ought to have been paid
for the certification of the documents, counsel for the appellants
referred us to section 75 of the Evidence Act, which provides for the
payment of legal fees on demand of copies of documents held as public
documents. Counsel also drew our attention to section 42 of the Stamps
Act, which provides that no instrument chargeable with duty shall be

admitted in evidence unless the instrument is duly stamped. Counsel
then contended that the trial judge misdirected herseif on the law when
she overruled the appeilant's objection to the use of the documents.

In reply, counsel for the respondent submitted that according to the
order for discovery dated 19th August 2021, the l"t appellant was
ordered to avaii certified copies of the voters' register for all polling
stations in Buwekula South Constituency. That in view of this, the
appellants' submission that the application for discovery was dismissed
is unfounded. Counsel added that the appellants did not object to the
admission of the VR during the hearing of the application for discovery.
Instead their objection which appears at page 2079-2081, Vol 4 of the
record was in relation to certilication of the DR Forms that were issued
to the respondent by the l"t appellant after the polls, on election day.
That the respondent had applied to have those certified but instead the
l"t appellant availed to him copies of the DR Forms that were in her
possession.

Counsel went on to emphasise that the VR were part of the evidence
from the onset ofthe trial. And that consequently, the appellant had the
opportunity to submit about them to rebut the assertions of the
respondent. That in fact the l"t appellant had the opportunity to
produce the same VR as part of her evidence in answer to paragraphs
13.1 .12 of the petition and 14. 1 . I I of the affidavit accompanying it, but
she chose not to. Further that the fi1ing and serving of the VR on 15d
September 2012 was agreed to by the parties before court; and so were

the timelines for the submissions. That as a result, it was a surprise
that the appellants now dispute the authenticity of the VR yet it was the
1", appellant that certified copies of the same as a true record. Counsel
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went on to point out that the appellants did not challenge the
authenticity of the VR before the trial court.

The respondent's counsel further submitted that according to the report
about the discovery, at page 1974-1979, Vol 4 of the record, it is evident
that only 2 out of 61 ballot boxes had their seals tampered with. And
that by implication, the seals were not broken. Further, that the
Returning Officer stated that in the course of transferring the boxes, it
is a normal occurrence for the seals to break. But in the event that they
do they are replaced by the officials present together with police

constables. Counsel then asserted that in view of the fact that the
ofhcials of the l"t appellant certified the VR that were found in the baliot
boxes as authentic, the submission that the same was evidence that
was compromised was speculative and devoid of merit.

Counsel further advanced the argument that though the appellants had
the opportunity to cross-examine the respondent about the contents of
paragraph 14.1.11 of the affidavit accompanying the petition, they did
not do so. That in addition, the appellants conceded to the VR being
frled in court but they did not bring it to the attention of court that the

needed to cross examine the respondent about them. We were referred

to page 109 to 1 10 (2257 -2258, Vol 4) of the record for the proceedings

at which the appellants agreed to the filing of the VR and the order of
the trial judge to that effect.

I observed that counsel for the respondent offered no specific

submissions in respect of ground 12, which was that the trial judge

ought not to have relied upon any of the materials drawn from the ballot
boxes.

However, in respect of ground 5, the respondent's counsel submitted
that the complaint about non-payment of legal fees did not form part of

the issues agreed upon for trial by the parties at the scheduling

conference. That it was raised in the submissions of counsel where the

respondent could not produce any evidence to show that the fees

required were paid, yet the respondent paid UGX 2,397,600 for the

certified copies.

Counsel for the respondent further submitted that the appellants'

submission was about non-payment of stamp duty, yet section 75 of

the Evidence Act requires payrnent of legal fees' They further argued

that documents which are obtained through discovery under Order 10

rules 12 and 14 CPR are not covered by section 75 of the Evidence Act.

They added that where a government entity is a party to a suit in court,
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this provision is inapplicable because all parties to suits must readily
avail documents in their possession which they intend to rely upon to

the other party in the course of the hearing. That as a result, ground 5

iacked merit and should be resolved in the negative.

s Resolution of Grounds 5' 7 and 12

Before I dispose of the grounds of appeal above, I note that section 18

of the Electoral Commission Act provides for the compilation of the

national voters' register and voter's rolls for each constituency and

polling station within the constituency. I shall therefore henceforth refer

to the 'uoters' roll" as the correct nomenclature of the document over

which the parties hereto disagreed. This is because the 1"t appellant
could not have produced the whole of the voters'register in respect of a

dispute over elections in one constituency.

In order to address ground 7 and 72 comprehensively, it is important
that I establish from the proceedings how the ballot boxes came to be

opened to retrieve the voters' rolls. This is especially because the

appellants claim that there was an application for discovery but the

same was dismissed. By implication therefore, there was no court order

to open the ballot boxes and therefore, having opened them, the

contents thereof should not have been relied upon by the court for that
reason, but also because at the opening of the boxes, two of them were

discovered to have had their seals tampered with.

25

The facts relating to the retrieval of materials from the ballot boxes, as

deduced from the record are that before frling the petition, on sth

February 2021, the respondent's counsel applied to the 1"t appellant to
furnish him with the following information: i) Certified copies of the DR

Forms; ii) Return Form for Transmission of Results; iii) Certifred copy of

the Voters'Register for Buwekula South Constituency, and iv) all invalid
votes cast in Buwekula South Constituency. The court was informed
that the letter was received at the offices of the 1"1 appellant (EC) on 7th

February 2021.
30
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However, the EC did not supply the information requested so the matter
came up in the pre-trial proceedings held by the trial judge on the 19m

August 202 1 . Counsel for the EC during the hearing, Mr. Godfrey

Musinguzi, undertook to ensure that the documents are availed.

However, for the 2"d appellant, Mr. Steven Asiimwe objected to the

request to supply the certified copies of invalid votes because it would

(
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require the opening ofthe ballot boxes. In addition, he brought it to the
attention of court that the petitioner applied for a vote recount but his
application was dismissed. In view of that, court directed the
respondent to make an oral application for discovery.

On the same day, Mr. Paul Sebunya, the respondent's counsel made an

oral application for discovery of the invalid votes under Order 10 rule
12 CPR and rule 17 of the Election Petition Rules. Mr. Musinguzi for the

l"t appellant objected to the application, among others, for the reason

that it was an effort to bring another application for a vote recount
which he informed court was dismissed. The matter was adjourned to

the 20ft August 2O2l for the trial judge to deliver her ruling.

The record shows, at page 2026 of Vol 4, that the trial judge delivered
her ruling though it is not evident what it was. But in addition, at page

2027 of Yol4 of the record, the court made the foilowing entry:

"1. As ordered bg Courl, the 2"d respondent should haue concluded

handing ouer the documents of (sic) item 1, 2, 3 and 5 of the

communication dated 15th Febntary 2021 from Paul Sebunga & Co

Aduocates to the Electoral Commission. The Electoral Commission should

haue handed them ouer bg 26/ 8/ 2O2 1. ..."

The trial judge further pointed out that the petitioner should have

received the stated documents before the date of his submissions, for

the reason that he needed to refer to them. Counsel for the appellants
both agreed to these directives.

There appears at page 1970, Volume 4 of the record, a copy of an order

signed by the trial judge on the 26ft August 2027, extracted by M/s Paul

Sebunya & Co, Advocates. Item 1.0 of the order is that the application
for discovery against the 2"a respondent for certified copies of all invalid

votes from all polling stations in Buwekula South Constituency was

denied. It was further ordered that the 2"d respondent shall provide

certifled copies of the voters' register for all the polling stations in the

Constituency, certified copies of the declaration forms which the

Electoral commission received from the Returning ofhcer of Mubende

District for Buwekula south constituency, certified copies of DR Forms

received by the presiding officers at all polling stations in the

constituency, and a certihed copy of the Return Form for Transmission

of Results for the ConstituencY'
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When the parties next appeared in court on the 3l"tAugust 2021, the

1"t appellant still had not availed the documents as ordered' Following

the complaint by counsel for the respondent about failure or neglect by

the 1st appellant to avail the documents, the trial judge directed that
pL'.rsuant to her order, the documents must be availed to the

respondent's lawyers by Friday 3'd August 2021. T}le parties were

directed to confer and generate a Joint Scheduling Memorandum and
produce it on 7th September 2021.

During the proceedings on 13th Septembet 2O2l , Mr. Dominic
Twinamatsiko for the petitioner informed court that he received a
certified copy of the voters' register on Saturday (1 1th September 20211

at 3.00 pm. That however, they still sought to have the Electoral

Commission certify copies of DR Forms in their client's possession

before they could conclude compiling the trial bundle for the hearing.

Mr. Medard Segona who appeared with Mr. Abbas Matovu and Mr.

Asiimwe Steven for the 2"d appellant objected to the certification of the

DR Forms in the possession of the petitioner, the respondent here. They

prayed that the trial judge reviews her order dated 266 August 2O2I in
that regard.

For the Electoral Commission, Mr. Musinguzi complained that there

was an order to open the ballot boxes and retrieve certain documents
but the order was made contrary to the law. While the ballot boxes could

only be opened within 6 months of the polls, the order that was made

required the opening of the ballots boxes 8 months thereafter' He prayed

that despite the fact that the documents retrieved from the ballot boxes

were already certified, they should not be admitted in evidence to
support the petition. The reason that he advanced was that the court
was misled into granting an order to open the ballot boxes outside the

time specified by the law. However, he could not come up with any law

to support his argument.

The trial judge took issue with the fact that counsel for the EC did not
raise the contention that there was a limited time within which the

ballot boxes could be opened. Instead they stood by and witnessed the

opening of the boxes and even certified the documents retrieved from
them. Mr. Twinamatsiko's response was that it was all done in
compliance with a court order. Further that he drew all this to the

attention of court at the time the order was made but it was not
considered. Asked whether they intended to rely on the material
retrieved from the ballot boxes, Mr. Twinamatsiko affrrmed that they
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did. He further informed court that they still needed to have the DR

Forms that were retrieved from the ballot boxes on 1Oth September 2O2 1

certified by the EC.

Court sought to establish whether there was a court official at the

opening of the ballot boxes and whether the boxes were intact. Mr.

Twinamatsiko explained that there was an official of court present' That
not all the boxes were intact because out of the 61 boxes, two had their
seals tampered w'ith. That however, he needed more time before the

proceedings so that he could cross-examine the witnesses for the

respondents because he had yet to conclude preparation of the trial
bundle. He prayed that the matter be adjourned to enable him to
prepare the bundle.

For the 2"d appellant, Mr. Segona objected to the admissibility of the

documents from the ballot boxes because in his opinion they were all

compromised. That even if it was one ballot box that was suspect, the

whole process was compromised' He submitted that the respondent

ought to have got all his evidence before filing the petition, not the

reverse.

The trial judge ruled on the application on the 14tt' September 2027'

She reviewed and corrected her earlier order, by prohibiting the l"t
appellant from certifying the DR Forms that were in the possession of

the respondent here; obtained on the 9th September 2O2l' ln her ruling,

the trial judge clarified that she did not issue any order to open the

ballot boxes. That instead, it was the Returning offrcer who found it
necessary to do so in order to retrieve the voters'rolls. She referred to

the report of the Acting Registrar in which he stated that the court

ordered that the ballot boxes be opened but this was a mistake on the

part of the Registrar.

The trialjudge concluded that what was done was not what was ordered

by court because beyond obtaining the voters' register, photocopies of

atl the DR Forms found in the boxes were made and each of counsel

present obtained a copy thereof, as was shown in the report of the

Acting Registrar. That the exercise devolved from the mere retrieval of

documents into inspection, which is a special kind of procedure

providedforunderorderl0rulel5CPR.Thejudgethusdeclinedthe
applicationforthecertificationoftheDRFormsinthepossessionofthe
p.iitio.r... Instead she held that the DR Forms in the possession of the
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EC, which were received after the polls in a sealed envelope, would

suffice for the petitioner to prove his case.

It must now be determined: i) whether it was law{ul to open the ballot

boxes at the time that the trial judge ordered the l"t appellant to avail

the voters' register to the respondent; and ii) whether in the

circumstances that I have laid out above, it was iawful for the trial judge

to compel the 1$ appellant (EC) to avail certified copies of the voters'

register to the respondent as she did on 19th August 202 1.

The Report of Kaggwa Francis, Acting Registrar, dated 9s September

2O2l at pages 1974 to 1979, Volume 4 of the record of appeal, shows

that at the opening of ballot boxes before the Deputy Registrar, Stephen

Asiimwe stated that the purpose for which they were summoned was to

open them to retrieve the register and the DR Forms to have them
certihed. He raised an issue for the 1"t respondent that though the seals

which were fixed on the boxes on polling day were orange in colour, the

seals on the boxes on the 9th September 2O2l were purple in colour.

Bazirake Daniel holding the brief for Sebunya proposed that arguments

about the seais be reserved for evidence in court. That since the purpose

of the proceedings was to get the required materials out of the boxes for

certihcation, the process should go on. But each of the representatives

should receive copies of the documents for endorsement as the ones

that were retrieved, as they await certihcation by the EC.

" In the course of opening of ballot boxes, it's normal occurrence that seals

break in euent that the seals are broken theA are replaced bg the officials
present together uith police constables, that is all."

The Acting Registrar then made the following observations:

"At the opening of the ballot boxes, ue realised that the seals for the ttao

ballot boxes had been tampered with.
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It was clear from the Report (at page 1974, Yol.4 of the record) that
there were representatives of all the parties to the petition present at

the opening of the ballot boxes, though the ls respondent, now 2"d

appellant, was present in person. The Returning Officer for Mubende

District who ofhciated at the poll offered clarification about the seals as

follows:
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When ue opened the ballot boxes, u-te found three copies of declaration

forms that is, the Presidential election, u)oman Member of Parliament for
Mubende Distict and Butuekula South Member of Parliament.

I am here as the Acting Registrar and I haue onlg authoitg to corry out

the orders made by the Judge in the petition'"

The report of the Acting Registrar did not identify the two polling

stations whose ballot boxes was tampered with. However, during the

proceedings, Mr. Twinamatsiko for the petitioner in the lower court
clarified at page 2O76,Yolume 4 of the record, that the seals of the ballot
boxes for Sunga and Kivera Polling Stations were found to be broken. I

can only deduce from the extract of the report above, that what the

Acting Registrar identified as tampering with the two ballot boxes was

the fact that they contained the DR Forms for the Presidential, Woman

MP and Buwekula South MP elections.

Nonetheless, the Acting Registrar went on to record the serial numbers

of all the seals, both the original and replaced seals, making a total of

61 ballot boxes with seals replaced' This included Sunga and Kivera
polling Stations. He also indicated that 5 polling stations had no voters'

rolls preserved in the ballot boxes as follows:

i) Kavule ii) Kabunyonyi iii) Katome iv) Kamusenene and v) Budibaga

Further that the ballot boxes for the foltowing polling stations did not

contain copies of DR Forms:

i) Butayrnja (A-M); ii) Rwamaboga; iii) Kawumuto; iv) Saka P/S; v)

Kyakadali Catholic Church; vi) Lwemigo; vii) Kinyiga A; and viii)

Kibyamirizi (N-Z)

At the end of it all the Acting Registrar summarised the proceedings as

follows:
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" Parties and their respectiue counsel haue dulg witnessed opening of the

ballot boxes and taken note of some issues herein aboue obserued and

copies of uoters registers as ttell as copies of declaration of results fonns

from the polling stations of Buraeloia ConstituencA in Mubende Distict
haue been dulg retieued. saue for copies missing as herein aboue

indicated, and for purposes of transparencg, photocopies haue been

made and dulg end.orsed bg counsel for the parties, the Distict Retuming

OJficer of Mubende Dstnct and the Acting Deputg Registrar, the said

cipies haue been retained bg the petitioner and the ld Respondent' (sic)
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There is no doubt that the ballot boxes were opened and resealed with
new seals before they were opened to obtain the voters' rolls because
according to the report of the officer that presided over the opening, all
61 ballot boxes for Buwekula South Constituency had new seals. The

systematic replacement of seals that was recorded by the Acting
Registrar could not have been that of a meddler who wanted to change
or alter the results inside the boxes, unless such a meddler was within
the EC. But there was no such allegation in the entire evidence before
the trial court.

However, the fact that the bal1ot boxes for Sunga and Kivera Polling
Stations contained DR Forms for three positions in the General
Elections of 14tt January 2O2l went against the norm set in the
Parliamentary Elections Act. Section 52 of the Act provides for the safe

keeping of election materials and records as follows:
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But before that, section 8 (+) (a) of the Act provides for the procedure at
the polls for District Woman MP and special interest groups as follows:

"The following prowlsions shall sPply to district women
representatlves and special interest groups referred to ia subsection
t2t-
(a) ltl the case of the election of distrlct women representatlves-

l) the election shall be by secret ballot;
lilthe election shall be by unlversal adult suffrage;
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Parlies wait for the certified copies from the 2"a Respondent as directed
bg court." (sic)

"(11 The returnlng officer shall be responslble for the safe custody
of all the electlon documents used ln the dlstrict in connectlon
with an election untll the doclrrrleftts dre destroued in
accordo:nce utlth the dlrectlons of the Commisslon. but the
Commlsslon shall not qlve such dlrectlons before the
settlement of dlsoutes lf anu o;lslno from the electlon.

(2) A returning olllcer shall, on receipt of each ballot box-
(a) take every precaution for its safe custody;
(b) examine the seal aIfixed to the ballot box, wlth a view to

ensuring that the box is properly sealed; and
(c) if the box is not in good order, record his or her

observations and alfix a dlfferent seal supplied by the
Commission."
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Itif subject to the prowlslons of this Act' the electlon of district
women representatives may be held on a different day from the
day on which the general election of members of Parllament
elected directly to tepresent constituencies under artlcle
78(lf(a) of the Constitutlon ls held;

lu) seoarate baltot boxes sho'll be used ln resoect of the electlon of
distrtct utomen representatlues .from those used for the electlon
of members Pqrllament dlrectlg e to represent
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constltuencies
v) the provlslons of thls Act shall apply wlth the neceasery

modlflcatlons to the electlon of dtstrlct women representatlves
as they apply to members dlrectly elected to rePresent
constltuencies;"

{Dmphasls suPPlled}

In view of the provisions of subsection (4) (a) above, the l"t appellant did
not comply with the law when her officials stored the results for three

categories of candidates in the two ballot boxes, as it was revealed on

9d Septembet 2O2I.

Mr. Segona, for the 2'd appellant, asserted and complained before the

trial court that the ballot boxes were re-used for other elections and

therefore the contents therein could not be relied upon. However, there

was no such evidence on the record, save as above. It is a-lso

inconceivable that the same ballot boxes could have been re-used. This

is because this court takes judicial notice of the generally known fact

that the polls for all three categories of representatives in the General

Elections of 2O2l occurred on the same day, at the same time, on the

14th January 2021.

Mr. Musinguzi advanced the argument that the ballot boxes ought to
have been opened after 6 months, only- And that the court order that
led to reopening of the boxes after 8 months was contrary to the law'

However, he did not provide authority for his submission, in spite of the

fact that he promised the trial judge that he would to do so'

However, section 52 of the Parliamentary Elections Act is very clear on

this point. The materials used in the polls had to be preserved by law

because it was alticipated by the Legislature that there would be

disputes after results are declared. For that reason, Parliament provided

for the preservation of the materials used, only to be destroyed in
accordance with directions of the Commission. However, the
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destruction of the materials cannot be done before the settlement of

disputes arising from the elections is concluded.

With regard to the trial of petitions in the High Court, section 63 (9) of
the Parliamentary Elections Act provides that petitions shall be

determined within 6 months of lodgement in that court. I observed that
the petition in this dispute was lodged in the High Court on 19tt'March
2021, while the order to avail the materials to the petitioner was made

on the 19t August 202 1 , though it was extracted and signed by the trial
judge on 26tt August 2O2 1 . However, the order was only extracted

because though Mr. Musinguzi for the l"tappellant, on the 19th August
2021, agreed to avaii the documents requested for, he failed, refused or

neglected to do so. In any event, between the 19tl' March and 26h

August 2021, there was a time lag of 5 months, not 6 months as Mr.

Musinguzi wanted the trial court to believe in order to deny the

petitioner access to the election materials required to prove his case. I

am aiso of the view that by virtue of section 52 (1) of the Parliamentary
Elections Act, there is no limit to the time for opening the ballot boxes,

as long as a dispute subsists. The trialjudge therefore acted judiciously
when she exercised her discretion to order the l"t appellant to produce

the materials required by the respondent to prove his case.

As to whether the materials were compromised, as it was asserted for
the appellants, I note that according to the report ofthe Acting Registrar

there were two ballot boxes whose contents and seals were found to
have been tampered with. In this regard, counsel for the appellants
offered no authority for the submissions as to how this court should

resolve the matter, save that the appellants did not agree to admission

of the evidence from the ballot boxes at the scheduling conference.

Further that the materials were brought onto the record at the tail end

of the trial and so they could not call further evidence to rebut the

evidence therein.

It is clear to us that the l"t appellant was always aware that the

respondent intended to adduce the evidence from the ballot boxes, even

before the petition was filed. I say so because the respondent applied to

court for a vote recount, which was unsuccessful, before he filed his
petition in court. Having failed to have the recount done, he requested

the 1"r appellant to provide him with election materials, including those

known to be preserved in the ballot boxes, on 15tr' March 202 1, before

he l-rled his petition in court. I also note that between the 19tt' August
2O2l wherr Mr. Musinguzi agreed to provide certilied copies of the
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voters' register and DR Forms to the respondent, and the 14tn

September 2021, when he closed the case for the 1"t appellant, there
was a time span of 25 days. When the respondent took the stand for
cross examination on 13th September 2O2L, Mr. Musinguzi cross

examined him about the DR Forms and why the BWK were not used
at some polling stations. He could not cross examine him about the
voters' registers beiause he had refused or neglected to provide him
with copies thereof.

It was also my observation that counsel for the 1"t appellant chose to

call only the Presiding Officer in the person of Kunihira Christine Fiona,

right from the scheduling conference, as is shown in the memorandum
thereof at page 1967, Volume 4 of the record of appeal. Counsel for the

1"t appellant also willingly closed their case on the 13th September 2021,

without much ado, and they acquiesced in the plan to avail certified
copies of the voters' rolls on 15th September 2O2l .

Going forward, counsel for the appellants did not seek leave to call
further evidence to challenge the veracity of the materials that were

retrieved from the ballot boxes, yet Ms Kunihira was cross-examined by

counsel for the respondent and examined by court on the contents of

the DR Forms and Voters' Register. I therefore find that the l"t appellant
has only herself to blame for the failure to adduce evidence to rebut
what was contained in the DR Forms and VR, if any'

As to whether the whole of the evidence from the ballot boxes was

contaminated and therefore unreliable, the Supreme Court was

confronted with an<i had to determine the question whether tampering

with ballot boxes would result in overturning an election in John
Baptist Kakooza v. Anthony lga & Electoral Commission, Election
Petition Appeal No O7 of 2OO7. The appellant's grievance in that case

was that one of the ballot boxes was found to have been opened' The

court, per Kanyeihamba, JSC, in the lead judgment found and held,

and the rest of the court agreed, that:

"There is the euidence of a single box at Kolama polling station u'thich

tuos found open. This irregularitA uas fullg exploined bg credible

ttitnesses os neuer intended to alter the cast uotes for ang of ihe

candidates. I agree uith the concurrent findings of the learned tial Judge

andtheJusticesofAppealthatthateuidenceolonecannotUitiatethe
election results of the whole constituencg.
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Houteuer, it must be said that tampeing tttith sealed electoral boxes afier
the uotes haue been co,st and counted is a serious offence and ought to

be condemned. Neuertheless, to uitiate the results, the appellant needs to

proue that the phenomenon he complains of had extended begond one

polling station and affected more than one ballot box or utas of such
nature as to affect the results substantiallg in the constituencg. In mg

opinion, the appellant hos failed to do so."

In the case now before us, two (2) ballot boxes out of 61 were found to

have been tampered with by including therein DR Forms for the election

of 3 categories of representatives, contrary to section 52 of the
Parliamentary Elections Act. It is my opinion that this was an

irregularity that was most probably occasioned by officials of the EC. I

am also of the firm opinion that results contained in the two (2) ballot
boxes were insufficient to affect the whole election in the constituency
in a substantial manner. Given that the rest of the material was not
contaminated, as the rest of the ballot boxes, though they had been

opened before were properly resealed, they could still be used to
establish facts about the po1ls. As a matter of fact, the two polling
stations of Kivera and Sunga whose ballot boxes had the seals tampered
with were not among those that did not hold DR Forms and VRs.

It is also evident that though the ballot box opening exercise resulted in
copies of the DR Forms being photocopied and given to the

representatives of all the parties present, the certified copies of DR

Forms that were availed to the respondent in this appeal by the 1"t

appellant, contained in ExhPWT, starting at page 45, Volume 4 of the

record of appeal, included DR Forms for Butayunja (A-M), Rwamaboga

B, Kawumuio, Saka P/S, Kyakadali Catholic Church, Lwemigo, Kinyiga
A, and Kibyamirizi (N-Z) Polling Stations, which were not found in the
related ballot boxes when they were opened on 9th September 2a21. Th,e

DR forms employed in the analysis by the court also showed that they
were certilied by the Secretary for the 1s appellant on 1 1n March 2O2 1.

These could not have been drawn from the ballot boxes that were

opened before the Acting Registrar's nominee on 9th Septembet 2021.

In the circumstances, I cannot fault the trial judge for relying on

evidence from the voters' register that was obtained on opening the

ballot boxes in the presence ofthe 2^d appellant and the representatives
ofthe rest ofthe parties to this dispute. Grounds 7 and 12 ofthe appeal

therefore also fai1.
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Wittr regard to ground 5, the complaint that no stamp duty was paid on

the issuance of the certified copies of the DR Forms and the voters' rolls
to the respondent, section I of the Stamps Act provides for instrument
chargeable with stamp duty. A list of instruments then appears in a
Schedule to the Act for the purpose of identifying specific instruments'

The documents that were availed to the respondent by the l"t appellant
are not included in that schedule' They were therefore not subject to

stamp duty at all. Ground 5 of the appeal was just a 'red herring 'thrown
into the Memorandum of Appeal to augment the number of complaints

against the judgment and distract us from the real issues in the appeal'

It therefore must fail.

Grounds 10 & 15

Ground 10 was a complaint that was stated in negative syntax; that the

decision ofthe trial judge that the I"t appellant did not prove that 1,512

voters in 6 polling stations were not verihed was erroneous. Stated in a
more comprehensible manner, judging from the statement of the trial
judge in her judgment in this regard, we are of the view that the

grievance may have been better stated thus:

"The tial judge ened in fact and lanu uhen she found tlat the l"t
appeltant failed to proue that 1,512 uoters in the 6 polling stations

complained about tuere ueified before theg cast their uotes'"

I observed that though the appellants did not directly address ground

l5 of the appeal in their submissions, while addressing ground 10, they

adverted to ground 15, which was that the trial judge erred in law and

fact when she allowed the petitioner/ respondent to depart from his

pleadings and so occasioned a miscarriage ofjustice. I shall therefore

address grounds 10 and 15 together.

Submissions of Counsel

The appeliants' counsel submitted that though the respondent had

agents at all polling stations, not a single agent or registered voter swore

an affidavit or testifled in court that there were no voters' registers at

any of the polling stations. That it was therefore fatal for the court to

assume that a total of 1,512 voters at those polling stations were not

legally verified. Further, that it was erroneous of the trial judge to

conclude, as she did at page 47 of her judgment, lhat 2,69O votes were

unaccounted for, simply because of discrepancies in the ticked voters'

49

10

15

20

30

35

7rr."



5

registers. Counsel went on to submit that the testimony of DW4 was

that verification of voters was carried out using the BWK at all polling

stations, and that she did not receive any complaints on polling day that
the BWK were missing from any of the stations'

The appellants' counsel further contended that the court's reiiance on

the VR which were never duly identihed and tendered in court was

misleading. Further, that by relying on the VR alone, the court was

misled because voters were also identified by the BWK.

Counsel for the appellants went on to point out that in his pleadings,

the respondent specifically alleged that there was il1egal voting at
Kabunyonyi P S. B, Lukaya, Buswabwera, Kirangwa P/S, Kinyiga

Dispensary A (A-M), Budibaga Eden P/S, Kibyamirizi, Mujunjwa, Saka,

Kisenyi Stores, Nsengwe, Kibuye Community Centre, Busenya P/S B,

Rusiki, KalongaT/C (A-M), KalongaTlC (N-Z\, Bulimi, Muleete T/C and

Kyakadali Catholic Church, according to paragraph 14.1.10 of the

petition, at page 23 Vol 1, of the record of appeal. That in spite of this,
the trial judge, at page 47 of her judgment, considered the voters' rolls
for 53 polling stations, contrary to what was pleaded. That by doing so

the trial judge allowed the respondent to depart from his pleadings.

Counsel added that in considering a petition challenging an election,
non-disclosure of polling stations in respect of which the results are

challenged renders the petition futile.

Counsel then concluded that because the findings ofthe trial court were

not consistent with the pleadings, and the appellants did not agree to

the voters' rolls being used by the respondent in evidence, the

respondent engaged in litigation that amounted to a fishing expedition

and an ambush on the appellants. That as a result the decisions of the

trial judge were erroneous.

In reply, counsel for the respondent submitted that the respondent pled

that the number of voters that participated in voting was less than the

ballots counted and contained in the ballot boxes, in paragraphs

l3.l.l2 and 14.1.11 of the petition and the accompanying affidavit,
respectively. That the appellant did not dispute this numerical fact,

which was displayed in the respondent's submissions.

Counsei further submitted that the appellants did not dispute the fact

that 6 polling stations out of the 61 in the Constituency had no voters'

rolls on polling day; neither did they call evidence to prove otherwise.
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Counsel again referred us to page 2009 ofthe Supplementary Record of
Appeal for the 6 polling stations had no voters'rolls, and emphasised
that the total number of votes cast at those polling stations, as

computed from the DR Forms was 1,512.

The respondent's advocates went on to submit that the 1"t appellant
could have ably responded to the contention that some voters were not
verified by adducing documentary evidence to prove that it was not so,

and by responding to paragraphs 13.1.12 of the petition and 14. 1.1 1 of
the accompanying affidavit, but they chose not to do so. It was further
contended that the testimony of DW4 that the VR and BWK were used

at all polling stations on polling day was not corroborated, yet the l"t
appellant had the opportunity to apply for leave to bring the BWK to

court as proof that the same were indeed used, to verify the 1,512 voters

before they cast their votes.

Counsel then concluded that after the discovery process unearthed the

fact that 6 polling stations did not have voters'rolls on polling day, the

burden to prove that 1,512 voters were verified before they cast their
votes shifted to the 1"t appellant, but she did not discharge it'

In rejoinder, counsel for the appellant contended that the allegations in
paragraphs 13.1.12 of the petition and 14'1.11 of the accompanying

affidavit were generalised and referred to all polling stations in
Buwekula South Constituency' Further that since the respondent did
not have the VR at the time of drafting his petition, the contents of the

ballot boxes could have been doctored for the benefit of his claims in

the petition. That the reliance of the court on this evidence, which was

not tendered in court, and in respect of which the respondent was not
cross examined was a grave misdirection by the trial judge' Counsel

reiterated that the court allowed the respondent to depart from his

pleadings when the trial judge relied on the voters' rolls to come to her

decision.

Resolution of Grounds 10 & 15

I already found and held that the trial judge made no error when she

admitted the voters, register in evidence in this matter. I shall now

consider how she used the evidence that was drawn from it, first, by

setting down the decision that she made, as a point of reference' At page

48ofherjudgment(page2306,Vol4oftherecordofappeal)thetrial
judge found and held thus:
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"It was olso argued for Tumu.,esigge ond proued that VR for six polling

starions were missing from the ballot boxes opened on 9/9/2021' Tfat

fact came to tlrc attention of the EC on thot date. Euen then, no euidence

utas adduced bg them to shottL that ueifcation of uoters at those

particular polling stations was done bg means other than the VR' Since

the VR is confirmed to be the pinciple (sic) document on which uoter

ueification is d.one, the assumption is that 1,512 uoters at those polling

stations Luere not legallg ueifed get tLLeir uotes Taere counted as part of
the final tally of (sic) the three candidates."

The main contentions of the appellants were that: i) the VR were

admitted in evidence without the consent of the appellants; ii) the court
allowed the respondent to depart from his pleadings because there were

no pleadings about the VR in the petition; iii) neither was there evidence

from affidavits or witnesses called by the respondent to support these

findings; and that iv) the decision of the triai judge was erroneous

because it was based on her findings from the VR alone. I will address

these issues in the order that I have framed them in order to resolve the

two ground of appeal.

With regard to the l"t contention of the appeliants, I already found and

held that the trial judge made no error when she allowed the VR onto

the record of the court. I reached that decision because it was evident,

at page 2257, Y olurrre 4 of the record of appeal, that Mr. Assimwe who

appeared for the 1st appellant in the proceedings held on the 14o

September 2O2l did not object to producing the VR, save for

compiaining about its bulkiness. Neither did counsel for the 2"d

appellant in these proceedings. The record shows the following
interaction between Mr. Asiimwe and the court:

Mr. AsllfiuDe: Mg Lord the registers, /sic./ it is a bulk of documents and I
u.tould request mg learned fiend here to indicate the particular registers

uthere theg haue issue so that ute are saued uith (sic) the hustle of going

through euery page.

Court: Theg will serue gou the doanments. It is their case to proue

because I think once theg are making submissions counsel u.'ill applg

himself to a partianlar point and then gou only haue to look at that. It
helps of course if he can do it uell ges, but I cannot ntle on it because I
cannot determine hou.t counsel is prepaing his case in respect to those

documents-"
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There is therefore no doubt at all that the appellants agreed to the
admission of the voters' ro1ls for Buwekula South Constituency onto the
record of the court.

Turning to the contention that the trial judge allowed the respondent to

depart from his pleadings when she allowed the voters' roll onto the
record of the court, I am mindful of the provisions of Order 6 rule 7 CPR

which prohibit parties from departing from their pleadings in the
following terms:

7. Deperture from prevlous pleadlngs.

No pleadlng sha[, not being a petltion or application, except by
way of ameadment, ralse any new ground of clalm or contain any
allegatlon of fact inconsistent with the previous pleadings of the
party pleading that pleadlng.

The respondent filed only one petition with no amendment thereto. He

filed several afhdavits to support it, almost all of which were struck out
on technicalities and expunged from the record' The rule above shows

that even if he had hled further pleadings in the matter, because his
was a petition, it was exempted from the general rule not to depart from
previous pleadings. I hnd that the provision, though not stated to by the

appellants, clearly did not apply to this case.

With regard to the contention that the voters'register was not adverted

to in the petition and accompanying affidavit, I perused the petition
carefuily. I found that the respondent made several allegations about

the voters' register, and others that would require evidence from it as

follows:

" 13.1.7 The election officers of the 2"d respondent at Kabungongi P. S B,

Lukoya, BusuLabtuera, Kirangua P/5, Kitenga Dispensary A (A-

M), Budibaga Eden P/ S, Kibgamirizi, Mujunju-n, Saka, Kisengi
Stores, Nsenguto, Kibuye Community Centre, Busenga P/S B,

Rusiki Polling Stations allotued underoge and unreqistered
pggo s to cast uotes in fauour of the 1't respondent uthich in turn

affected. the outcome of the elections at those polling stdtions'

13.1.11 The election offcers of the 2"d Respondent with the conniuance

of the 1'1 respondent's polling agents on the polling dag at

Kiranguta P/5, Lukaga, Kabungongi P.S B, Mujunwa, Kibuge

Communitg Centre, Butagunja Parish, Kibgamirizi Polling

Slalions pre-ticked uotes in fauour of the 1d Respondent and
53
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thereofier issued those baltot popers to unreolstered aoters uho
cast them therebg denging genuinelg registered uoters their ight
to cast their uotes uhen theg had come to uoteon an allegation

thot theA had alreadg uoted; this LUas contrary to sections 29 (4)

and 34(2), (3) and (5) of the Parliamentary Elections Act 2OO5 as

amended.

13.1.12 The uotes cas, as contained in the ballot boxes of all polling

sralions in Buutekula South Constituency Mubende Distict are

more than the uoters that participated in the aotlflq exerclse d's

10 Der the ooters' isters for the polling stations uhich confirms

that thele uLas ballot stufftno. multlple aotinq. pre-ticklnq of
ballots and mo,nlpulation of the Voter's Reqlster uthich also

15

confirms that the 2"d Respondent failed to control the distibution
and use of ballot papers at those polling stations and this uas
contrary to sections 12 (1) (b) of the Electorol Commission Act,

Cap. 14O and section 27 (a) Parliamentary Elections Act, 20O5."

20

It is therefore evident that the respondent's petition not only adverted

to the voters'register but it specifically referred to it. The court therefore

could not have allowed the respondent any departure from his pleadings

in the face of the contents ofthe petition above. Ground 15 ofthe appeal

therefore fails.

25

With regard to the contention that the allegations in the petition were

not supported by afhdavit evidence, I observed that the respondent

matched the paragraphs of the petition reproduced above in his

accompanying affldavit with paragraphs 14.1'7, 14'1.10 and 14'1'11,

respectively, which were replicas of the paragraphs in the petition'
However, it was established that the respondent could not have gone to

al1 of the polling stations that he named in his affidavit. I therefore found

that most of the contents of the affidavit with regard to the allegations

in the petition amounted to hearsay evidence which the court could not

and did not consider.
30

However, I note that the respondent also stated thus in paragraph 11

of the same affidavit:

" 1 1 . Based on my euidence enumerated aboue and that of other ultnesses
35 th(rj haue deooned additional .L avits to buttress this petltion,

am aduised bg mg latugers M/s Paut Sebunga & Co. Aduocates tuhich

aduice I belieue to be true, that the Parliamentary Electoral process and

Dlections for Butttekula South Constituency Mubende Distict tuas
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conducted and the uinner of the same u)as declared in contrauention (ofl

electoral lauts." {Emphrrsis supplted}

It is the duty of this court to re-evaluate all the evidence before the trial
court and come to its own conclusions on the basis of the facts and the
law. Therefore, in order to determine whether the allegations about
voting by unregistered voters and the failure to use the BWK by the l"t
appellant had any affidavit evidence to support them when the petition
was lodged in court, it is to the record that I must go.

The respondent fi1ed 35 additional affidavits to support his petition that
were all dated the 19th March 2021, wh.ich appeared at pages 29I-474,
Vol. 1 of the record. They were deposed by voters in the constituency,
who were sometimes also the appointed agents of the respondent, and

were present at the various polling stations on polling day. I am mindful
of the fact that all of 34 aff,rdavits were expunged from the record of the

court following an objection that they did not comply with the

requirements of the Illiterates Protection Act. Much as they were

expunged, it is pertinent to consider the facts deposed to in the

aflidavits. The deponents, their role in the election and the relevant

contents of 17 of the affidavits were as follows:

1. Tibisasa Fred, Resident of Kirangwa Ward and voter at Kirangwa P/S

Polling Station stated that he saw Kalyango Joel and Ndikubwimaana
Emmanuel, supporters of the 2nd appellant, voting on behalf of

unregistered voters;
2. Nakintu Teopista, Polling Assistant at Budibaga Eden Polling Station,

stated that she saw the Presiding Officer, Lubega Yosam, allowing

unregistered voters to vote at that polling station;
3. Sebuliba Steven, resident of Kyenda village and Polling Agent of the

respondent at Kitenga Dispensary N-2, stated that he saw oflicials of

the 2"d respondent allow the agents and supporters of the 2"d appellant

cast votes for Namiyingo Robinah, away in the Middle East and

Wamirele Muhammad, deceased;

4. Magezi Badru, voter at Rusiki Polling Station stated that he saw the 2"d

appellant's presiding officer at Rusiki Polling Station, Enoch Arekaho,

handing over pre-ticked ballots to voters as the voting table; agents of

the I st appellant aliow unregistered voters to vote under their watch and

supervision; noticed that someone voted for his mother Nakayiza

Joweria, deceased;
5. Ssebayiga Josephat, Polling Agent of the respondent at Busenya Polling

Station stated that he was denied access to the voters' register and so

could not verify if the validly registered voters were the ones voting;
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6. Mugerwa Raphael; Polling Agent of the respondent at Butafrnja Polling
Station, stated that election officials of the 2"d respondent issued 4O

voter location slips to one Nasasira Enock at the station and in
connivance with Agents and supporters ofthe ls! respondent, yet voter
location slips had been issued earlier;

7. Tumwiine Jamilu, Polling Agent at Kabunyonyi P.S B Polling Station,
stated that he witnessed the election officials of the 1't appellant,
Presiding Offrcer Ssempijja Isaac and Supervisor Mwine Simon
facilitating voters to vote more than once; and a registered voter at the
station was allowed to cast a vote for his son, a student at Gogonya
Parents'School;

8. Nakibwoya Kizza Dilr.rtiriya, Electoral Coordinator and Polling Agent for
the respondent at Kitenga Polling Health Centre N-Z Polling Station
stated that she witnessed the suspension of the Biometric Voter
Machine and Register by officials ofthe 2nd respondent;

9. Tugume Amos, Election Constable of the l"t appellant, Busenya P/S B,

10

t5

20

stated that he saw an Agent of the 1"t respondent, Kaben, smuggling
unregistered voters to vote at that polling station, supported by polling
officials of the 2nd respondent who just looked on;

l0.Kekitanda Margret, voter at Nsengwe Polling Station, stated that she

saw election officials of the 1"t appellant suspend the use of the
Biometric Voter Register, which allowed multiple and underage voting,
as well as unregistered voters to vote;

l l. Muhanguzi Benefansi, registered voter at Kibyamirizi P.S B stated that
he witnessed one Kenneth, a supporter of the 2na appellant who was
allowed by the Presiding Officer to vote for Kizito John, then a prisoner
at Kitalya Prison on charges of murder;

12. Kiddawalime Noah, petitioner's Electoral Coordinator in Kitenga Sub-
county, stated that the election officers ofthe 1"i appellant did not allow
the agents ofthe petitioner to know the identity ofvoters who were given
ballot papers to vote, which facilitated multiple voting;

13. Nabimanya Nathan, registered voter at Mujunwa Polling station, stated
that he voted twice since he was given a voter location slip by the Area
Chairperson of Mujunwa Village, Mwesigre Ezekiel, and others on 72rh

January 2O2l by Katongole Rasoor, an agent of the 2"d appellant who
gave him a fresh set of voter location slips under the guidance and
supervision of electiorr officials of the l"t appellant. He attached two
copies of such slips to his affidavit;

14.Begira Robert, Polling Agent of the respondent for Lukaya Polling
Station, stated that Mwine Simon, 2"d respondent's supervisor,
deliberately allowed voters to vote without verifying them on the voters'
register; witnessed the Presiding Officer of the 2"d respondent allow an
impersonator vote under the name of Nabukenya Vesta, deceased; and
that election officers of the 1$ appellant suspended the use of a fully
functional Biometric Voter Verification Machine;
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l5.Nansubuga Florence, Polling Agent at Kisenyi Stores, stated that she

witnessed the Polling Agent of the lst appellant at that station pluck out
more than one ballot paper and give them to some voters, so facilitating
ballot stuffrng; and officers of the lst appellant at that Polling Station

suspend use of a fully functional Biometric Voter Machine.
l6.Ngabirano Seleveno, registered voter and Acting Polling Agent for the

respondent at Kiveera Polling Station, stated that he witnessed

connivance between tlle agents of the lst respondent and the 2"d

respondent while issuing ballot papers to voters and ballot stuffing.
lT.Kato Ivan, Election Police Constable at Budibaga Ederr Polling Station,

stated that during polling, he noticed that agents of the 2"d appellant
were voting multiple times, but when he tried to arrest them, violence

ensued causing a standstill in the voting.

According to the averments above, it is clear that there was affidavit

evidence on the record to support the respondent's allegations in the

petition, but the affidavits were all expunged based on a technicality.
Since the decision to expunge them was resisted by counsel for the

respondent, but he gave in to it in exchange for the judge in turn
expunging additional affrdavits filed by the 1s appellant on the basis of
the Illiterates Protection Act, I will shall render a legal opinion about the

application of that law in this matter specifically, and generally by the

courts later on in this judgment.

Ground 15 of the appeal therefore could not be sustained because in
view of the pleadings that I analysed above, the respondent could not

have departed from his pleadings; neither was it possible for the trial
judge to allow him to depart from them. Though the judge expunged the

afhdavits that the petitioner intended to rely upon to prove the larger

part of his case on the basis of the 1"t appellant's preliminary objection,

there was other evidence that the judge relied upon to find in favour of

the respondent. Ground 15 clearly also fails.

As to whether the 1". appellant proved that 1,512 voters in the contested

six (6) polling stations were verified, the 1"r appellant called DW4, the

Returning ofhcer of Mubende District. we did not have the benefit of

reappraising her affidavit in answer to the petition because it was not

included in the record of appeal. Nonetheless, a review of the testimony

of DW4, Kunihira christine Fiona, brought us to the conclusions below.

counsel for the respondent cross examined DW4 about the BWK and

she asserted that they were supposed to be present at all polling

stations. She further confirmed that at some polling stations, 5 of them,
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the machines failed. That though the BWK were the recommended
mode for verifying voters, they were only a backup plan. There were

other methods such as the voters'register/rolls and voter locator slips
(VLS). That where the BWK failed, the EC officials employed the register

and the VLS to verify voters.

DW4 also stated that the National Voters' Register is contained in
bookiets for particular polling stations, the voters' rolls. Further that
one could not have the VLS unless they are registered voters because

the slips are obtained from the register. She confirmed that in the

absence of the register, even where the BWK fails one is able to vote if
she/he has the VLS. That it was therefore true that some voters were

allowed to vote on the basis of the VLS only. Further that it was normal
for voting to take piace in the absence of, and the ticking of the Voters'
Register.

During re-examination by Mr. Matovu for the EC, the witness stated

that she received some complaints from supervisors about the BWK'
She also stated that the purpose of the BWK was to verify the VLS.

That in the event the BWK fail, the VLS is verified from the Voters'

Register. She clarified that there were about 5 BWK that failed to work
in the whole of Mubende District, not Buwekula South Constituency
because in that constituency, she did not get any reports/ complaints
that the BWK faiied. And that on the whole, voting went on well.

I observed that the cross examination of DW4 about the poiling process

and the results in Buwekula South Constituency was general. Counsel
for the respondent did not cross examine her about the absence of
voters' rolls at any of the 5 polling stations of Kavule, Kabunyonyi,
Katome, Kamusenene, and Budibaga, yet both the respondent and DW4

were present at the opening of the ballot boxes where this was

established. Mr. Asimmwe, who was also present, did not seek any

answers from DW4 as to why the 5 voters' rolls were not preserved in
the ballot boxes.

I will henceforth refer to 5 polling station as the number that did not
have voters'rolls instead of 6 stations, as was the case in the judgment
appealed from because in the table which counsel for the respondent
computed the figures of voters that were not veriired, they stated that
there were 6 polling stations, including Lwangire. However, the

Registrar's Report about the opening of the bailot boxes on 9s
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September 2021 did not name Lwangire as one of the polling stations
with a missing voters' rolls.

Section 34 of the Parliamentary Elections Act, as amended by Act 12 of
201O, provides for the procedure for handing ballot papers to voters as

s follows

10

34. Procedure for handlng ballot paper to voter

11) A voter wlshlng to obtaln a ballot paper, for the purpose of
votlng, shall produce hls or her voters' card to the preslding
oftlcer or potllng aaslstaot at the table under paragraph (a) of
subsectlon (5f of sectlon 3O.

t2l If the presldine olficer or polllns essistant is satisfled thet the
voterts name and number indicated ln the voter's card
corresDond to the voter's name and number in the voter's
register for the oollins station.heor she shall lssue a ballot

15 paper to the voter.

(3 I Where a Derson does not have a voterts card but is ablet o Drove

to the DresidlnE olficer or oollins assistant that his or her name
and photosraoh are on the voter's regls r. the pre officer
or Do assistant shall issue hlm or he r with a ballot DADET:

20 (af Where a person has a voter's card and his or her name apPears

on the reglster but the photograph does not appear on the
reglster, the presidlng officer or polling assistant shall issue

hlm or her wlth a ballot PaPer.

(4) The presidlne olflcer or polline essistant shall olace a tick
25 agairrst the voter's name ln the voters' roll for the

stetion.

(s) Subiect to sectlon 39 . a person shall not be oermltted to vote
at a pollins station unless the oerson's name appears ln the
voter's roll for that oolling station.

30 (al A person who contravenes subsection (5) commits an offence

and is llable on convlctlon to a fine not exceedlng tq'enty-four
curency polnts or imprlsonment not exceedlng one year or
both.

Subsection (1) above implies that a registered voter Eust have a votefs'

card. By virtue of subsection (2) the information in the voters'card must

correspond with that in the voters'register/ro11. By dint of subsection

(3), a voter shall only be issued with a ballot paper if their name and

photograph appear in the voters'register/ro11, even if they do not carry

a voters'card. 
59
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According to subsection (4) of section 34, it is mandatory for the

presiding officer to place a tick in the register against the name of the

voter to whom the presiding officer has issued a ballot paper. Exceptions

to this provision are created in section 39 of the Parliamentary Eiections

Act which provides for "factors which may not preuent a person from
uoting" as follows:

(1) The clalm ofa Person to votc at any election shall not be reJected

by reason only-
(al that one of the person's names has been omitted from the

voters' register or from the voters' roll;
(b) or ofthe entry ln the voters' register or in the voters' roll of

a wrong village or of a wrongly spelt name, if in the opinlon
of the presldlng ofllcer, the person is sufllclently ldentlfled'

(2) The clala ofa female voter to vote at any polllng statlon shall aot
be reJected by reason only that she has changed her suraame by
reason of marrlage and that the change has not been reflected in
the voters' reglster or the voters' roll for the polllng statlon.

10

15

20

The Electoral Commissiirn introduced the use of the Biometric Voter

Verification System (BWS) before the 2027 general elections in order to

ensure more efflcient verification ofvoters that had been entered in the

Voters' Register. Therefore, DW4 claimed that the BWK, the kit that
goes with the BWS is supposed to contain information from the register

and was used as an alternative to the voters'register and rolls, or as an

aid for accessing information from the Register. And that it was not
possible for a voter to have a Voter Location Slip, also drawn from the

BWS without their name appearing in the Register.

However, Part III of the Electronic Transactions Act which facilitates E-

Government, in section 22 thereof , provides as follows:

22. Electronic llllng and issuing of documents.

30 IIIhere a law des that a u bo ma

(al accept the flllng of a document or requires that a

document be created or retained

(bl tssue a permit, llcence or an approval; ot

(cf provide for the making of a payment' the public body may,

(ll accept the document to be filed, created or retained
in the form of a data message:

(it) tssue the permlt, licence or approval in electronlc
form; or

60f*-"
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(tttl make or recelve payment by electronic means,

{Emphasls supplied}

Contrary to section 22, I found no statute, or even Regulations in place

that empower the l"t appellant to keep the voters'register and rolls as

e-documents. Section 18 of the Electorai Commission Act still provides

for the creation of a physical voters'register for Uganda and voters' rolls
for constituencies and poliing stations. It has never been amended to
state that the voters' register and rolls so created shall also be kept as

e-documents.

It is also apparent from the circumstances of this case that though the
EC used the BWS and therefore the BWK at some polling stations
during the polls held on 14th January 2O2L,1t appears not to have had
the means to adduce the use of, or specific components of the BWS or
the BWK as evidence in court. This is because adducing the BWK in
evidence would have required the 1"t appellant to l-lrst prove, according
to section 8 (2) of the Electronic Transactions Act, the authenticity of
the system and that the electronic records therein are what the EC

claims them to be.

Therefore, in the absence ofany evidence to contradict the analysis that
was done by counsel for the respondent (page 2009, Vol 5 ofthe record),

based on the physical voters' register books/rolls and the DR Forms

availed by the l"t appellant to the respondent (E:rhFtrI7), the trial judge

accepted the evidence and the submissions that I ,512 voters were never

verified. I see no reason to disagree with her findings save that having

deducted the number of voters from Lwangire Polling Station who were

184, the figure comes down to 1,328 voters not verified.

I came to this finding because the l"t appellant did not disprove the

allegations that some of the voters were not verified before they voted'

Instead DW4, at page 2228, Volume 4 of the record, admitted that it
was normal for polling to take place at a particular polling station

without ticking off the voters on the voters' register. Further that though

the BWK were used to verify voters, they were only a backup stratery'
The voters' register was the main document required to be used for

verifying voters and the vLS were extracted from the said register using

the BWS.

I therefore frnd that in view of the evidence before the court, the trial
judge made no error when she found that the l"t appellant did not
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disprove the fact that a substantial number of voters were not verified
according to provisions of the Parliamentary Elections Act.

The basis of the two grounds seems to be the conclusion of the trial
judge at pages 52-53 of her judgment, where she stated that:

"Again, urong enties in 19 out of 61 DR fonns that pointed to deliberate
manipulation or reckless neqliqence, had a siqnificant impact on the final
tallu. Going by the decision of Justice Katurebe in the Amamo Mbaba.zi
case (supra), the prouen defects seiouslg affected the final result of the
election to the extent that the result could no longer reasonablg be said
to represent the true will of the rnajoity of uoters of Buu-tekula South
Constituencg. The margin betueen the candidates being small, the
euidence leads the court to belieue that Museueni's uictory u.tas seiouslg
in doubt. Thus, emploging both the quantitatiue and qualitatiue test, the
noncompliance did affect the results of the election, sub stantially. "

My analysis of the DR Forms that were availed to the respondent
established that there were w'r'ong entries made in 17 of them. Similar
to the trialjudge, I cannot tell whether the wrong entries that appeared
in the 17 DR Forms that I analysed were deliberate or just negligent
mistakes. Neither can I tell whether they were procured by any of the
candidates vying for office in the election.

Nonetheless, this was not the only glitch in the polls in Buwekula South
Constituency on 14th January 2021. Similar to the trial judge, I

established that the 1"t appellant failed to prove that all the voters at

20
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Ground 10 of the appeal therefore also fails.

Grounds 4 and 14

s The appellants' complaint in ground 4 was that the trial judge erred in
law and fact when she held that wrong entries in 19 out of 61 DR Forms
pointed to deliberate manipulation or reckless negligence that had a
significant impact on the linal tally. Ground 14 was couched in similar
terms save that in this ground the appellants complained that the judge

10 did not evaluate the evidence properly and so erroneously found/held
that there was deiiberate manipulation of entries in the DR Forms which
had a significant impact on the final tally. The repetition, as I already
observed, stemmed from the failure of counsel for the appellants to
discuss the contents of their memoranda of appeal before they drafted

1s and filed the consolidated memorandum of appeal.
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the 5 Polling Stations of Ka',rrle, Kabunyonyi, Katome, Kamusenene,
and Budibaga were legalIy verified before they cast their votes.

According to the analysis of the voters' rolls for those 5 Stations, 1,328

voters were not verified. It is therefore not known whether they were

registered voters or just persons who were brought to the 5 polling
stations to cast ballots.

As a result, I find that grave anomalies were found to have occurred at
2 1 out of 6 1 Polting Station in the Buwekula South Constituency
because the Polling Station at Budibaga suffered both anomalies.
Therefore, save for the differences in the number of voters and polling

stations that were stated in her judgment which differs from my

findings, the trial judge made no error when she held that the anomalies

that were alleged by the respondent signifrcantly affected the results in
the polls.

Grounds 4 and 14 of the appeal therefore also fail.

Remedies

The appellants prayed that this court allows the appeal and sets the

decision of the trial judge aside with costs to the appellants. In view of

the overwhelming evidence re-appraised, even in spite of the 34

additionai affidavits that were expunged from the record, I lind that this
appeal cannot succeed.

However, I have not been able to establish whether the 2"d appellant
participated in bringing the anomalies that I observed above to pass'

What is clear to us is that the 1"t appellant failed to carry out her duty
imposed by section 12 (1) (J) of the Electoral Commission Act to ensure

that all election officers comply with the provisions of the Act and the

Parliamentary Elections Act. The Electoral Commission also did not

come up to the expectations of citizens in Buwekula South constituency
that are imposed upon her by Article 61 of the Constitution'

But before I take leave ofthis appeal, I am inclined to express an opinion

about 2 legal issues that were not appealed against but which deserve

serious consideration: (i) the use of the Biometric Voters' Verification

System and Kits (the BWS and BWK) used in the 2O2l General

Elections and (ii) the manner in which the Illiterates Protection Act was

employed to expunge affidavit evidence from the record during the
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disposal of this dispute, vis-A-vis previous decisions of this court and

the Supreme Court on how to deal with affidavits said to be defective.

Blometrtc Voters' Verlffcatlon Sgrstem and Klts

With regard to the BWS & Kits, it is expected that the use of
Information Technologz to manage the processes of government will
reduce the occurrence of fraud and corruption. It is indeed laudable

that the EC introduced the use of the BWS and BWK in the 2021

Elections. However, they were employed contrary to the Electronics
Transaction Act. I therefore call upon the Electoral Commission, or

other appropriate body, to move Parliament to amend the Electoral
Commissions Act and make provision for the use of Information
Technolory, or to enact an appropriate law for that purpose, as it is
required by section 22 of tl,e Electronic Transactions Act.

The Illiterates Protectlon Act

The Illiterates Protection Act is based on the principle of non-est factum
(not my deed) which operates to protect illiterate persons from liability
in respect of documents or contracts mistakeniy executed by them' The

principle connotes that a document executed by a person in ignorance
or by mistake cannot be held against that person. The defence of non'

est facfitm carried with it a legal implication that a written agreement is

void because the person that is sought to comply with its covenants was

mistaken about its character or content when they signed it, or that
they signed what was radically different from what they intended to sign

(Foster v Mackinnon (18691 LR 4 CP 7O4).

I observed that the respondent's witnesses' additional afl'idavits, whose

contents were relevant to ground 15 in this appeal and which I laid out
at pages 55-57 of this judgment, were one half of the total of 34 of such
affidavits that were expunged. Further that this was done because

counsel for the l"t appellant agreed that they too would take the

consequences of non-compliance with the Illiterates Protection Act, if
their affidavits failed to meet the requirements thereof.

In reply to the 2"a appellant's objection, counsel for the respondent in
this appeal proposed that the deponents of the affidavits flled by the

respondent be summoned and cross-examined as to whether they were

illiterates, but this was not considered by the court. The trial judge then

')rrr"
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struck out and expunged 34 and 17 additional affidavits filled by the

respondent and the 2"d appellant, respectively.

The decision of the trial judge on the matter appears at pages 2133-

2137, Yol.4 of the record of appeal, and the crucial parts that I am

minded to comment about were as follows:

"I haue addressed mg mind to submissions of both counsel. This matter

seems to haue alreadg been decided bg the Supreme Court in her

decision of Kasaala Grouers Co'op Socletg (supra) In mg preuious

d.ecision of Abubak* Ma,cho;rl (also quoted) I did find that the jurat
should contoin the full name and the address of tLe person who purports

to make the translation. There must haue been good reason for it, to the

ertent thot euen the mode of the jurat uas highlighted in another Act, the

Oaths Act, in which the reEtirement tuas giuen of uthat the jurat should

look like. There must haue been good reason for this so that the court

knotus that the person uho in fact authored the doanment is properlg

identified. An affidauit is euidence brought into court and as Mr Segona

argued, ordinaitg it uould be a properly cerlified aduocate and no other

person, to prepare ang document for the court. Thouah other thlrd
parties can DreDare anu d.ocuments for another. for ourooses ofa

5
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20 stlt ln court. I utould exoect an Aduocate to have mad,e the

30

trdnslatlon, as o'n.e dulu lnstructed.

Therefore, it is important thot such an aduocate is knou-tn' their

addresses are giuen and the fact that theA are dulg instructed and that

the deponent understood the language into uhich the translation taas

being made.

It u.tould be too much to ask a court to confirm whether a person

understood the affdauit through cross examination because that would

be opening pre-tial proceedings unnecessailg. Knou.ting that election

petitions must be d.ecided in a limited peiod of time' it is too much to osk

for all those utho stuore aJfidauits to be brought before court for cross

examination Aet the lala tuos clear on hotu translation should be made,

tuhich is a pre-tial actiuitg.

All counsel haue conceded that lDithout the proper jurat, the aJfidauits

c@nnot stand. I therefore moue to atlou the application made bg counsel

from either side. If there ls a mlstake whlch had not been noted
before. the court cdnnot stand such an ll o.litu to stau."

{Emphasls supplled}

The decisions of this court on affidavits deposed by illiterate persons

appear to present different and inconsistent positions on this subject.

This leaves the lower courts with no clear authority to follow when they
65
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are confronted with arguments about affidavits subject to the Illiterates
Protection Act, which come in different permutations, alleged to be

defective. I will review some of them here to demonstrate my concern.

Section 3 of the Illiterates Protection Act has many facets and it provides

as follows:

l. Verlflcatlon of documents wrltteu for llllterates.
Any peraoa who shall write any docuaent for or at the requeat, on behalf
or in the name of aay llliterate shell also wrlte on the documert his or
her own true atrd full aame as the writer of the document and hls or her
true atrd full address, and hls or her so dolng shall imply a statement that
he or she was iaetructed to wrlte the document by the person for whoE
It purports to have bcen sritten and thet lt fuUy aDd correctly replesents
his or her iastructlons and was read over and explaiaed to him or her.

This court in Rehema Muhindo v. Winfred Kiiza & Electoral
Commission, Election Petition Appeal No. 29 of 2O11 considered a

situation in which the trial judge in an election petition excluded eight
(8) affidavits offered in rejoinder to that of the Chairperson of the
Electoral Commission. The reason for exclusion was that the trial judge
was concerned that the affidavits failed to indicate that the contents
had been read back and explained to the deponents who were all
illiterate. And that as a result, both the Oaths Act and the Illiterates
Protection Act were not complied with. The trial judge found non-
compliance to be fatal and declined to rely on the said affidavits.

This court found that the allegations in the said affidavits had their
basis in the averments of the main affidavit to which the rejoinder was

offered, and they were specific to the allegations in that affidavit. The

allegations were therefore before the court in some other evidence even

if the affidavits were excluded, yet the trial judge excluded all that
information. Mpagi Bahigeine, DCJ, as she then was, therefore found
and held, Nshimye and Kasule, JJA concurring, that:

"I uould agree uith Mr. Ngantge that Mr. Ntamibirueki u.tould haue

applied to cross-examine the deponents if he felt that their auerments

were doubtful. The ouerments displaged knouledge of uhat tuas in Dr.

Kiggandu's affidauit thus alleuiating the concern that theg had not been

read or explained to each one of them. This led to an inference that the

contents of Dr. Kiggundu's affidauit had been read and explained to each

one of them. It has been held bg the Supreme Court in Col. Dt. Kllza
Beslgge as. Youerl Kaguta Museaenl No. 7 of 2OO7, Prestdentlal
Electlon Petltlon that the court should take a liberal uieuL of aJfidauits
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in Election Petitions , consideing the tight time schedule under which theg

haue to be compiled, unless the omission is mateial going to the root or
the substance of the aJfidauit.

The learned tial .judge uas thus not justified in excluding them tuith the

exception of one bg Thembo K. Stephen utho did not appear for cross

examination uhen required so to do."

In IKizza Besigye v. Museveni Yoweri Kaguta (supra) the Supreme

Court considered the effect of expunging numerous additional affidavits
that were deposed to support the petition. The court did not speciflcally
refer to affidavits deposed by persons who are subject to the Illiterates
Protection Act, but the court (per Odoki, CJ) had this to say about

contestations over alleged defective affidavits:

10

'From the authorities I haue cited there is a general trend toutards taking

a liberal approach in dealing tuith defectiue affidauits. This is in line uith
15 the constitutional directiue enacted in article 126 of the Constitution that

the courts should administer substantiue justice without undue regard to

technicalities. Rules of procedure should be used as handmaidens of
justice but not to dekat it."

The majority of the court agreed on this issue, but I note that the

20 discussion arose from afhdavits said to contain hearsay evidence. The

dicta above may not, in my view, relate to aflidavits subject to the

provisions of the Illiterates Protection Act.

The oft cited decision of the Supreme court on affidavits subject to the

Illiterates Protection Act is Kasaala Growers cooperative Society v.

2s Jonathan Kakooza & Another, sc civil Application No 19 of2O1O.

It is the authority that the trial judge in this matter relied upon to come

to her decision. In that application, Okello, JSC sitting as a single

justice considered. an affidavit deposed by a litigant who was illiterate

in the English Language but literate in Luganda, which had no

30 certification at all that the contents had been explained to the deponent

in the language that he understood'

The learned jurist observed that there is a general trend towards taking

a liberal approach towards defective aflidavits in the spirit of Article 126

of the constitution. However, he came to the following conclusion about

35 the circumstances in that case:

"Horteuer, a distinction must be dranttn betueen a dekctiue affidauit and

failuretocomplgwithastatutoryrequirement.Adefectiueaffidauitis'
67
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for exomple, tahere the deponent did not sign or dote the affidouit'
Failure to compty tuith a stdtutory requirement is uhere a requirement of
o statute is not complied uith. In mg uieu, the latter is fatal-"

Okello, JSC then affirmed the decision of this court in Ngoma-Ngime v.

Winfred Byanyima & Electoral Commission, EPA No 11 of 2OO2, in
which it was held, in respect of an afhdavit that did not contain a jurat
stating that the contents therein had been explained to the deponent in
a language that he understood and he appeared to understand them,

that:

"under the Oaths Act ... an affidauit su)orrl or affirtned bg an illiterate
person before a Commissioner for Oaths or any other person authoised
to administer an oath is obliged to include a iurat at the er"d of the

affidauit or affirmation stating that the contents of the offidauit or
affirmation tuas read ouer to the deponent. The jurot hc"s to state that the

d-eponent oppeared to haue understood the same. To me this is not a
matter of form.... irisa matter of substance. The contents of an affidauit
or affinnation and annexures attoched must be explained and

understood by the deponenl. ?his is the protection that uas enuisaged'"

As I already pointed out above, affldavits sworn to by illiterate persons

come in different variations. In this case, I observed that all of the

additional aflrdavits filed by the respondent did contain a jurat rn wh,ich,

one Kibeedi Isaac stated that he was the translator. They were also

stated to have been drawn and filed by M/s Paul Sebunya & Co'

Advocates of 2"a Floor Colline House, Plot 4 Pilkington Road Kampala.

Kibeedi certified that he translated the contents before the affidavits
were commissioned by Munyaneza Daniel Bazirake, Advocate and

Commissioner for Oaths.

I further noted that in the alfidavit of Ngabirano Selevano (page 47O-

477 of the record) Kibedi stated that he was a Lawyer by profession'

However, he was not the person who drafted the affrdavits and wrote

the deponent's names on them, for that was clearly M/s Paul Sebunya

& Co. Advocates, the advocates of the respondent here and in the trial
court. As a result, the case of Kasaala Growers (supral which the trial
judge based her decision upon clearly did not apply to the affidavits in
this case.

This court considered the challenge to affidavits deposed by illiterate
witnesses in the more recent case of Nakate Lilian Segrrjia & EC v.
Nabukenya Brenda, EPA Nos 17 e2L of2O16. In that case, the court
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considered the question whether the certification in the jurat by the
interpreter of the contents of the affidavit, and not by the Commissioner
for Oaths who endorse d tl,.e jurat by commissioning the affidavit,
rendered it fatally defective for flouting the intentions of Parliament.

This court found that in that case, the affidavit had two jurats, one by
the interpreter and the other by the translator. The circumstances were

therefore similar to those in this case. With regard to the interpretation
of the contents, the court then held thus:

"Second, uthere the interpretation of the contents of the affidauit is done

bg a third partg, as is prouided for in the First Schedule to the OatLB Act,

it presupposes that it was the third partg, and not the Commissioner for
Oaths, uho was conuersant tuith the language the deponent understood.
Hence, pursuant to the safeguard prouided in the 1't Schedule to the

Oaths Act, the interpreter is better placed, than the Commissioner for
Oaths, to certifll in the jurat that follotuing the interpretation, the

deponent appeared to understand the contents of the affidauit.

We are therefore satisfied that the certification of the jurat bg the
interpreter, instead of the Commissioner for Oaths os prouided for in
Form B of the First Schedule to the Act, should be considered

unsubstantial deuiation; u-hich neuer seiouslg flouted the intentions of
the Legislature. We belieue that where a Commissioner for Oaths

administers an oath in an affdauit to a deponent afier a third partg
instead of the Commissioner for Oaths, has effectiuely interpreted
contents of the affidauit to the deponent to his or her understanding, the

affidauit should not be regarded as irredeemably defectiue and be

rejected. Parliament could not haue intended that such insubstantial
deviation from the statutory prouision should suffer such a consequence'"

It therefore needs not be gainsaid that the expunged affidavits were

consistent with the standard that was set by this court in l{akate Lilian
Segujja's case, as to the requirements of the Oaths Act and the

Illiterates Protection Act.
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Elsewhere, the Supreme Court of Nigeria had occasion to consider the

import of section 3 of the Illiterates Protection Act of Nigeria, which is a

statute in pai mateia and in similar terms with the Act in Uganda, in

Olusala Fatunbi & Another v. Ebenezer O. Olanloye & 3 Others

[2OO4t 12 NWLR Part 887, at page 229. Pats-Acholanu, JSC,

delivering the main judgment, with which the rest of the court agreed

had this to say:
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"It needs be emphasized that the prouision in section 3 (supra) is intended

fol the protection of the illiterate person. Essentiallg it is equallg to trace

the uhereabouts of the maker of the statemenL Care must be taken that
we do not put in the intendment of that prouision uhat is not intended to

accomplish. It is to ensure that uhat is stated there reJlects what the

itliterate person has stated and intended to be correctlg put in such a

document, and he is the onlg person to complain if that is not the case.

Thus in Edokpolo & Co. Ltd. u. Ohenhen (1994) 7 NWLR (Pt.358) 511 at
534, the Supreme Court, per lguh J.S.C, held;

'It ought also to be noted that section 3 of that lalu onlg raises or
prouides certain presumptions of law in respect of a document
prepared at the request, on behalf, or in the name of an illiterate
bg ang person uho shall uite on such document, his oun name

as the utiter thereof and his address. The purpose of the said
prouisions under section 3 of the law is also to ensure, in

furtherance to the said protection of illiterates, that ttrc Luriter of
such a document is identif.ed or troced.'

Implicit in that section is that u.there there eists a doubt or o deniol as to
the correct statements that were made bg the illiterates, the witer uill
be traced to shotu whether the content of the document represents the

ueracitg of uhat the illiterate asserts. In other utords, the protection

singularlg ensures (sic) onlg to the illiterate. See Dpkpan u. Orouugoube
(1967) 1 All NLR 134 at 140 and Angabunsi u. Uguunze (1995) 6 NWLR

(Pt. 401)255 at 272."

The Court of Appeal of Nigeria relied on the decision in Fatunbi v.
Olanloye (supra) in its more recent decision in Nhaji Modu Musa &
Another v. Kaka Gana lTraderl l202ll LPELR-SS156 (CAl, and came

to the conclusion that even an affidavit that does not contain the
illiterates' jurat is still effective and should not be annulled by court,
when it held thus:

"ln fact, I make bold to say it is not correct to saA that once a document
made bg an illiterate uho does not complg tuith the llliterates Protection

law is inadmissible will be taking it too far. The absence of illiterate (sic)

jurat tuill not for all-purposes make the document null ond uoid. If non'
compliance uill benefit the illiterate u.tho does not complain, a Court

should not be worried for the illiterate. In fact, no person, not euen the

Court slnuld dink ang medication for the sickness of an illiterate uho
does not care about the sickness. The apex Court in Wilson & Anor us

Oshin & Ors (2OOO) 6 SC (part III) I , made this position clear in these

words: 'I entirelg agree that absence of jurat in a document signed bg an
illiterate does not render the document null and uoid. A jurot is for the

protection of the illiterate and cannot be used against his interest'"'
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I am persuaded that this is a sound and comprehensive interpretation
of the purpose and the application of section 3 of the of the Illiterates
Protection Act. It is clearly the writer of the document that it is intended
to trance, not the translator thereof. I also note that the Illiterates
Protection Act does not provide for any consequences where the person

that drafts the document for the illiterate person fails to comply with it.
It is therefore erroneous for courts to impose consequences where they
are not. (See Sitenda Sebalu v. Sam K. Njuba, SC EPA No. No 26 of
2OO7l

It is also pertinent to point out that the Oaths Act provides for specific
oaths for affidavits in its schedule. Form B thereof has the form ofjurat
for an afhdavit where the Commissioner for Oaths has read over the

affidavit for a deponent who is either blind or illiterate, and another
where a third person reads the affidavit to the deponent who is illiterate
or blind. Both forms require the reader to explain the contents of the

affrdavit to the deponent in a language that he or she understands. The

latter does not require the reader to sign the affidavit; it must be signed

by the Commissioner for Oaths.

Therefore, at the very least, the trial judge ought to have allowed the

appellants here to cross examine the deponents of the impugned
affidavits, had their contention been that according to the deponents

themselves, the averments therein were not what the dependents stated

on oath. The trial judge therefore should not have expunged the

affidavits on the basis of complaints by counsel for the appellants, and

in the absence of the illiterate deponents thereof because doing so was

clearly contrary to their sworn interests.

I also hold the view that the disposal of election petitions on the basis

of discarding affidavit evidence on technicalities where the Rules

provide that evidence shall be by affidavit only, does not only prejudice

litigants. It also engenders witnesses to have limited or no faith at all in
a judicial system which seems to be efficient at disposing of disputes in
electoral matters on technicalities and excluding vital evidence on that
basis. As a result, the whole of the electoral process stands discredited.

Trial judges ought to weigh their decisiotrs on affidavits that are

challenged in these matters carefully. They also ought to consider the

provisions of section 64 of the Parliamentary Elections Act, which
provides that witnesses may be summoned and sworn in, in the same

manner as witnesses may be summoned in other civil proceedings'
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Therefore, if the judge be minded to expunge affidavit evidence on

technicalities, they ought then to summon the witnesses in order for

them to dispose of the substance of disputes, as is required by Article

126 (21 (e) of the Constitution.

s Conclusion

10

This appeal substantially fails and I would uphold the orders of the trial
judge with costs to the respondent here in the court below' However, in
view of the fact that the anomalies in the election were very much the

result of errors and shortcomings of the Electoral Commission, I would

order that each party bears their own costs in this appeal.

It is so ordered.

Dated at Kampala this"d Day of ^a 2022.

rene Mulya a
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A. lntroduction

1. I have had the benefit of reading in draft the lead Judgment of my sister, Hon. Lady

Justice lrene Mulyagonja, JA in the present Appeal. I would respectfully depart

from the conclusion arrived at therein that the Appeal be dismissed for the reasons

I shall endeavour to highlight in this judgment.

2. The factual background to the Appeal, as well as the summation of the parties'

respective cases and court appearances are well articulated in the lead judgment,

and shall not be reproduced in detail here. ln a nutshell, it is the contention of the

Electoral Commission ('the First Appellant') and Mr. William Museveni ('the Second

Appellant') that the High Court sitting at Mubende ('the Trial Court') erred in setting

aside the election of the Second Appellant as the Member of Parliament for

Buwekula South Constituency in Mubende District.

3. Dissatisfied with the trial court's judgment, the Appellants lodged this now

Consolidated Appeal proffering fifteen grounds of appeal as reproduced below:

1. The Leamed Tiat Judge erred in law and fact when sha failed to propely appraise and

evaluate the evidence on record and consequently anived at wrong conclusions that:

(i) A total number of 2,690 votes were unaccounted for.

(ii) That those were votes which were given to and then cast by voters who were not

veified by the polling agents in contravention of Section 1 PE Act.

(iii) That the assumption that 1,512 voters at 6 (six) po ing stations l.va,'6 not legally

verified yet thei votes were counted as pai of the final tally of the three candidates.

(iv) That the proven defects seiously a{fected the final result ol the election to the

extent that the result could no longer reasonably be said to represent the true will

of tha majority of voters of Buwokula South Constituency.

(v) That the maryin between the candidates being small, the evidonce leads the coutt

to believe that the 2"d Appe ant's victory was seiously in doubt.

2. The Learned Trial Judge erred in law and fact by admitting and relying on evidence only

adduced duing the petitioner's submissions peftaining to the Declaration of Results forms

(DR) and Voter Registers (VR) that had not been pleaded in the petition and proved through

affidavit evidence verifying the Respondent's petition.

2
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3. The Leamed Tial Judge ened in law when she misapplied the law relating to ballot stuffing

thoraby ariving at a wrong conclusion that the Petitioner/ Respondent had prcved that

there was ballot stuffing.

4. The Learned Tiat Judge erred in law and fact when she held that wrong enties in 19 out

ol 61 Declaration of Results forms (DR) pointed to deliberate manipulation or reckless

negligence that had a signfficant impact on the final tally.

5. The Learned Triat Judge misdirected herself at law and fact when she over-ruled an

objection/ point of law in respect ot the Respondent's reliance on coftified copies of the

yotors Reglsters (VR) where, contrary to the law, no proof of stamp duty was shown

thereby making a wrong conclusion to rely on them.

6. The Leamed Tial Judge ened in law and fact when she disregarded the 7d Appellant's

objections about major pafts of the Respondent's evidence being hoarsay thoreby aniving

at a wrong docision.

7. The Learned Tial Judge erod in law and fact when she disregarded the Appellants'

objections on Voters' Rogisters retieved from ballot boxes on the 09/09n021 thereby

ariving at an erroneous decision.

8. The Loamed Trial Judge erred in law and fact when she shifted the burden of proof onto

the 1"t Respondent (Appellant) in respect of the a aged mlss,ng yolers' Registers where

no proofwas made and made a finding that there was non'varification of the voters thereby

making wrong tindings.

9. The Learnad Trial Judge having expunged the Petitioner/ Respondent's Affidavits

accompanying the Petition failed and/ or did not put the remaining evidence to proper

scrutiny and by reason of such failure anived at wrong conclusions

10. The Trial Judge oned in law and fact whan she mado a finding that the (1d) Appellant did

not prove that 1,512 voters in the impugned six Polling Stations were not veified

11 . The Learned Trial Judge misdtocted herself and arivod at wrong conclusions when she

relied on ravetations uneafthed through interlocutory application than othgtwise had been

oiginally pleaded.

12. The Learned Trial Judge misdirected herself on the law and arrived at wrong conclusions

when she relied and considered the material trom tho Ballot Box.

13. The Leamed Trial Judge misdirected herself on the law when sho without conducting a

recount of votes, made a finding that a total sum o12,690 votes was unaccounted for.

14. The Trial Judge did not evaluate the ovidence before her proparly and erroneously found/

held that thare was deliberate manipulation of entries in the Declaration of Rasu/ls Forms

which had a significant impact on the final ta y.

15. The tial judge erred in law and in fact when she allowed the Petitioner/ Respondent depaft

from his pleadings henc€ occasioning a miscarriage of iustice.

4. The Appellants seek the following remedies:

3

('onsolidatcd [ilection Petition Appeal No. 7.1 & 7'l ol 20] I

w4



(a) An order setting aside and reversing the judgment ol the High Couft

(b) This appeal be allowed with costs ln thls Couft and tho couft below

(c) A declantion that the ?d Appellant is a lav,lfully elected member ot padiament for

Buwekula South Constituency.

(d) Any fufther reliefs as this honourable Couft deoms fit

B. Determination

5. Rule 36 of the Parliamentary Elections (lnterim Provisions) Rules, Sl 141-2adapts

to election petition appeals'any rules regulating the procedure and practice on

appeal from decisions of the High Court to the Court of Appeal in civil

matters.' The duty of this Court sitting as a first appellate court from a decision of

the High Court is encapsulated in Rule 30(1) of the Court of Appeal Rules. The

Court is enjoined to 're-appraise the evidence and draw inferences of fact.' ln

Banco Arab Espanol v Bank of U anda. Civil Appeal No. 8 of 1998 (Supreme

Court), the duty to re-evaluate the evidence on record was held to be applicable to

the re-appraisal of both oral and affidavit evidence save that the trial court's

impressions on the demeanour of witnesses would be inapplicable to affidavit

evidence. This duty does similarly apply to election petition appeals before the

Court. Thus, in Achienq Sarah Ooendi & Another v Ochwo Nyakecho Keziah,

Election Petition Appeal No. 39 of 2011 , the Court adopted the exposition of the

same principle in Father Nasensio Beoumisa & Others v Eric Tibeba oa civil

Apoeal No. 17 of 2002 (Supreme Court) in the following terms

The duty of the first appellate court ... . is to subiect the evidence adduced at the trial

to a fresh and exhaustive reappraisal, scrutiny and then decide whether or not the

learned trialjudge came to the correct conclusions, and if not then this court is entitled

to reach its own conclusions.

6. Meanwhile, the standard of proof in parliamentary election petitions is

encapsulated in section 61(3) of the Parliamentary Elections Act, 2005 as follows:

( onsolitlalecl Irlection l)etition ,\ppcal No. 7.1 & 7'l ol 20l I
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Any ground specifiod ln subsection ('l) shall be proved on tho balance ot

probabilities.
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7 . That statutory provision was in Nanziri Kase Mubanda v Marv Babirve

Kabanda. Election Petition Aooeal No. 38 of 2016 construed by this Court to

confer a different standard of proof on parliamentary election petitions as opposed

to presidential election petitions, the applicable standard in parliamentary election

petitions being satisfaction of the court by balance of probabilities. lt is on that

premise that the present Appeal shall be determined.

8. Turning to the grounds of appeal, it is observed that the Appellants did not directly

address Grounds 3, 9, 11 and 14 of the Appeal in their consolidated written

submissions. However, the contestations on ballot stuffing raised in Ground 3were

canvassed within their submissions on Grounds 4 and 13 of the Appeal, while

Ground 74 was subsumed within the Appellants' arguments under Grounds 1, 8,

10 and 12 thereof. The Appellants argued Grounds 2 and 7 together, followed by

Grounds 1, 8, 10 and 12 together as well, as were Grounds 3, 4 and 13, and

concluded with the separate consideration of Grounds 5 and 6.

9. lt must be stated from the outset, however, that I do agree with the decision in the

lead judgment to strike out Ground 7 of the Appeal for the reasons advanced

therein, therefore it shall not be considered in this judgment either. Meanwhile,

Grounds 2, 8 and 15 raise procedural points of law that, in my view, could dispose

of the entire Appeal. lt is for that reason that I propose to address them on

preliminary basis. Given that they were canvassed by the Appellants alongside

Ground 7, on the one hand, and Grounds 10 and 12, on the other hand; those

grounds of appeal shall be considered together.

Grounds 2 & 7 Reliance on evidence only adduced duing submissions;

Dectaration of Resu/ts Forms and Voters Registers that were neither

pleaded nor proved, and Voters Registers retrieved from unsealed ballot

boxes.

10.Under Grounds 2 and 7, the trial court is basically faulted for relying on a voters'

register that was admitted onto the record after close of the hearing of the petition.

It is argued that the register was not pleaded in the petition nor alluded to in the

affidavits in support thereof, or admitted in evidence during the hearing of the

petition. Rather, it was one of the documents the admission of which had been

('rrnsolidated Election Petition Appeal No. 7.1 & 71 tl'20)l
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1 1. The lead judgment correctly finds that issues arising from the voters' registers and

declaration of results forms were pleaded in the petition. However, it seems to me

that the main bone of contention in both grounds of appeal is the reliance by the

Trial Court on evidence by way of voters' registers that was only adduced at the

stage of submissions, after close of the hearing.

12.The record of appeal does in paragraph 9.2 of the Joint Scheduling Memorandum

confirm that the certified copies of the voter register were not admitted documents

before the Trial Court. Secondly, the Trial Court's record of proceedings reveals

that although the Respondent had already received the contested register as at

13th September 2021, his advocate complained at the hearing on that date that he

had not received certified Declaration of Results forms and was thus still compiling

his trial bundle. He therefore sought additional time to file his trial bundle.

Conversely, opposite Counsel opposed the inclusion in documents for admission

material the integrity of which had been compromised on account of the unsealed

ballot boxes. The Trial Court reserved its ruling on the matter but ordered for the

cross examination of the Respondent's witness to commence. This cross

examination ensued between pages 2082 - 2131 of the record of appeal. The trial

judge did, nonetheless, defer the closure of the Appellant's case until she had

delivered her reserved ruling on the credibility of the evidence found in the ballot

boxes that had been opened. Upon delivery of the ruling when the matter next

came up for hearing, cross examination ensued on the Appellants' witnesses with

Mr. Twinamatsiko, Counsel for the Respondent undertaking the cross examination

on the Respondent's behalf.

1 3. I am duly aware that Rule 17 of the Parliamentary Elections (lnterim Provisions)

Rules, Sl 142-2 adapls the Civil Procedure Rules (CPR) to the hearing of election

6
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contested by the Appellants at the pre-trial scheduling conference. lt is further

argued that the ballot boxes containing the impugned register were during the

certification process found to have been tampered with and the seals thereof

broken thus compromising the credibility of registers. The Appellants make

reference in that regard to the trial judge's interlocutory decision in which she

dismissed an application for discovery in respect of invalid votes.
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petitions. Order 18 rule 2 of the CPR is instructive on the conduct of hearings in

civil proceedings. lt reads as follows:

('l) On the day fixed for the hoaring of the suit, or on any other day to whlch

the hearlng is adjourned, the party having ths right to begin shall state hl3

or her case and produce his or her evidonce in support ofthe iceuee which

he or sho is bound to prov6.

(2) Tho other party shall then state his or her case and produce his or her

ovldoncs, if any, and may th6n address the court gonorally on ths wholo

ca3e.

(3) Th6 party beginning may then reply generally on the wholo case; oxcept

that ln cases ln which svld6nce is tendered by the party beginning only ho

or she ahall have no rlght to reply.

14.The Respondent in this case had the right to begin under Order 18 rule 1 of the

CPR. The Appellants having indicated their intention to cross examine him only,

upon conclusion of that cross examination the Respondent's case would have had

to be closed prior to the commencement of the Appellants' respective cases. That

is the import of Order 18 rule 2(1 ) and (2) of the CPR. lndeed, in this case, upon

conclusion of the Respondent's cross examination, cross examination ensued in

respect of the Appellants' witnesses. Clearly, therefore, the Respondent had at

that point closed his case. Once the cross examination of the Appellants'

witnesses by the Respondent's advocate had been concluded, submissions

ensued as provided for in Order 18 rule 2(3) of the CPR. lt was at that point'

however, that the Trial Court directed the Respondent to file the certified registers

in this matter.

15.This, with utmost respect, was irregular procedure. The Respondent having closed

its case without presenting the certified Voters Register, it was improperly admitted

at the stage of submissions at the behest of the court. The fact that the Appellants

did not at the time object to the procedure adopted by the trial judge would not, in

my view, negate the duty upon a trial court to follow due process as laid down in

our civil procedure rules. Courts (and not litigants) bear the primary duty to direct

their proceedings in accordance with laid down procedural rules. Borrowing from

the practice under English law, Blackstone's Civil 448. Dara

42. 7 posits as follows

Practice (200$. p.
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Ultimate responsibility for the control of litigation should move from the litigants and

their advisers to the court. Under the (English) CPR, the legal profession is intended to

perform its traditional adversarial role in a managed environment governed by the

courts.

16. I am aware of the proposition in Halsburv's laws of Enoland. Vol. 16(2). D.8. Dara.

7058 that 'parties to litigation who have continued the proceedings with

knowledge of an irregularity of which thev miqht have availed themselves are

stopped from afteruvards setting it up.' However, clearly that proposition was

inapplicable to the Appellants in this case, the trial judge's directions in the mafter

hariing come at the tail end of the adjudication process.

lT.ltherefore find that the Trial Court did err in law by admitting in evidence voters'

registers that were adduced in evidence at the stage of the Respondent's written

submissions. Ground 2 of the Appeal would thus succeed.

1 8. Under Ground 7, it is argued that the credibility of the voters' register retrieved from

the ballot boxes on 9th September 2021 had been compromised. The trial court

addressed the issue as follows:

The exercise to open the 61 sealed ballot boxes ol the constltuency was

conducted on 9/8/21 before the Chief Magistrate Mubende .... tt is rePorted that

at the opening of the boxes, it was found thaf sea/s of two had baen tampered

with. ... lhe Chiel Magistrate confimad that seal of the boxes for tho Klsanyl

Store PS in Bugonza Parlsh, Kltenga Sub County and Sunga PS' Kabyuma

Pa sh, Kalonga Sub County had been broken. None the less, no oblectlon was

raised against that discovery and tha exercise was begun and was comPleted.

According to the Magistrate's rePoft, eight boxas had no DR forms and slx had

no W . t will assume then that 55 yR (voters registers) werc found lntact, retrleved

photocopied and then certified by the EC with no contes!. ... More imPortant' the

EC who raadily agreed and did certify a 55 VR, whlch were then admltted as

Tumwesigya's evidence, must have done so after conflrming thoir authontlcity.

Going by Kakooza JB's case, save for those ot Kiseyl and Nsunga Polllng

stations, the exerclse was not contaminatod to the oxtent that those documents

are unrellable or even lnadmissibte. ... For the above reasons, I am constralned

to roiact the third objection. I will retaln on the rccord all the 55 certlfled coples

1 Described at p. 2269 of the record of appeal as 'voter registers retrieved durinS the exercise of opening the

sealed ballot boxes on 919/2f.
8
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of VR as part of Tumweslgye's evidence, to be considered uslng the burden of
proof expected of election petitions.

1 9. This rendition of what transpired on that day is borne out by the evidence on record.

Therefore, ofthe sixty-one boxes that were presented for opening; two ofthe boxes

had their seals tampered with and six of them contained no voters' registers. As

can be gleaned from its decision above, the trial court retained on the court record

the voters' registers retrieved from fifty-five ballot boxes (less the six boxes that

contained no registers). However, of the fifty-five ballot boxes the admitted on the

court record, the trial judge disregarded the contents of the two unsealed boxes

from Kisenyi and Nsuga polling stations in arriving at her conclusion that the

election had been riddled by ballot stuffing. See paragraph 99 of the Trial CourT's

judgment. I would not fault the trial judge on this as the compromised credibility of

the two boxes would not necessarily extend to all the other fifty-three boxes that

had their seals intact. See John Ba ptist Kakooza v Electoral Commissfon &

Another, Election Petition Aooeal No. 11 of 2007. I would therefore resolve

Ground 7 of the Appeal in the negative.

Grounds 8 10 12&15 : Shifting evidential burden; mateial from ballot boxes, and

depafture from pleadings

20.The decision that there was ballot stuffing and the making of false returns contrary

to sections 77 and78(a) of the Parliamentary Elections Act, 2005 was made on the

basis of the following findings by the Trial Court. First, discrepancies between the

ticked voters captured in the fiftythree voters' registers vls a vls the total number

of ballot papers counted in each Declaration of Results form. The Trial Court

adjudged the alleged discrepancies to translate into votes that were unaccounted

for and computed them at 2,690 votes. ln arriving at that figure of supposedly

unaccounted votes, the trial judge considered the alleged discrepancies in eleven

polling stations. The court rendered itself as follows:

A careful consideration of the 53 voter ragisters/ rolls (Klsenyi and Nsuga

excluded) showed glaring discrepancies in the ticked voters on the VR, and the

total numbor of ballot papers counted in each DRform. For somo polllng statlons

(ag Buzooba. Buwumirc. Kavunaa. Kadoma. kibuve Communltv Centre. Kllande

Dispensarv A (N-Z) the ditference rangad trom a small 1 - 7 votes. ln others (eg

9
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Kalembe, Nama Life Centre. Bwakuao. Mui wa and Kltovu) dilferences

saen were as high of 287, 253, 227, 198 and 160 votes respectivoly. The result ls

that a total sum of 2690 votes was unaccounted for. lt may wall be that no

conflrmatlon ,s present that those extra votes wgnt to elther candidate, or

Museveni specifically, However, those were votes which warc given to and then

cast by voters who were not verified by the polling agents ln contravantion of

Section 1 PE Act. That would ba an illegal introduction and lnclusion of those

votes in the final ta y for each candidate;a crassic case of vote stuffing. I say

so Decauss the Court of Appeal has ln an earliet declslon considered

unexplained vot6s cast (over and beyond the registered voters) as evldence ol

ballot stuffing. See Nlnslima Boaz Kasirabo v EC EP Appeal No. 55/ 2016. (my

emphasis)

21.The second premise for the Trial Court's finding on ballot stuffing was that there

was no evidence from the First Appellant that the verification of voters at those

particular eleven polling stations had been done by means other than the voters'

register and, since the said register is the principal basis for voter verification, the

assumption was that 1 ,512 voters at those polling stations were not legally verified

to vote yet their votes had been included in the final tally of results for the three

candidates.

22.Thtdly, the Trial Court was of the view that 'by failing to verify voters against

the VR at the six polling statiors (the ballot boxes of which contained no

registe|, allowing unregistered voters to cast the vote, entering falsified data

into the DR forms, failing to secure the VR by placing it into the six ballot

boxes, there was serious mismanagement of the poll, the vote and its tally at

59 polling stations.'

23.The foregoing findings are contested under Grounds 8, 10 and 12 of lhe Appeal'

the Trial Court being faulted for shifting the burden of proof in respect of the voters'

register to the First Appellant. lt is argued that the burden of proof in election

petitions lies with the petitioner, who is required to prove non-conformity with the

electoral laws to the required standard, and that burden of proof remains

unchanged. Reference in that regard was made to Freda Nanziri Kase Mubanda

v Marv Babi rve Kabanda & Another. Election Aooeal No. 38 of 2016. The

decision of the Supreme Court of lndia in Jeet Mohinqer Sinoh v Harminder

('onsolidated Election l)etition Appeal No. 7.1 & 7'l ol 202l
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24.fhe Appellants further challenge the Trial Court's findings that verification of voters

was not done at six polling stations leaving 1 ,512 voters at those polling stations

unverified, and that 2,690 votes were unaccounted for and cast by voters that had

not been verified by the polling agents in accordance with section 1 of the

Parliamentary Elections Act. lt is argued that all the candidates to the election had

agents at all the polling stations but no single agent or registered voter deponed

an affidavit in support of the petition alleging that there were no voters' registers at

any polling station. This allegation is opined to have only arisen in the

Respondent's final submissions. ln addition, it is argued that the discrepancies in

the ticked voters on the voters' registers were very well explained by DW4, who

clarified that voter verification had been done by W and BWT machines at all

polling stations and there had been no complaint at any of the polling stations.

25.|t is thus proposed that the trial court's reliance on an impugned voters' register

that was never properly adduced in evidence is misleading in so far as the evidence

on record is that at some of the said polling stations voters were verified by voter

verification machines and not necessarily the voters' register. lt is opined to be

untrue, therefore, that 2,690 votes were unaccounted for and unverified voters had

voted as that conclusion was not supported by any affidavit evidence. The trial

court is faulted for its assumption that since no voters' registers had been found in

the ballot boxes of six polling stations, the voters at the said stations were never

verified.

26. Furthermore, in an apparent reference to the question of departure from pleadings

raised under Ground 75 of the Appeal, the Appellants take issue with the fact that

although the Respondent had pleaded illegal voting at eighteen polling stations,

the trial court considered registers of fifty-three polling stations, making findings on

ll
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Sinqh Jassi. AIR 2000 SC 258, was also cited in support of the proposition that

unless a petitioner discharges his/ her evidential burden of proof, an election is

presumed to have been valid. ln that case it was observed that'the success of a

candidate who has won at an election should not be lightly interfered with ...

Any person seeking such interference must strictly conform to the

requirements of the law.'



27. Conversely, Counsel for the Respondent support the trial court's conclusion that

the First Appellant did not bother to explain the discrepancies observed in the

evidence on record, arguing that DW4's evidence was not corroborated by any

other witness The cases of Rehema Tiwuwe Wato nqola v Salaamu Musumba,

Electio n Petition Appeal No. 27 of 2016 and Raila Amolo Odinqa & Another v

Uhuru Mui ai Kenvatta. Presidential Election Petition No. 1 ot 2017 (Kenya

Supreme Court) were cited in support of the Respondent's case.

28.The burden of proof in civil proceedings is outlined in section 102 of the Evidence

Act. lt lies with 'that person who would fail if no evidence at all were given by

either side.' Accordingly, it is now well established law that the burden of proof in

election petitions lies with the petitioner, who is required to prove non-conformity

withtheelectorallawstotherequiredstandard.SeeW
Mubanda v Marv Babirve Kabanda & Another (supra). Consequently, in this

case, the Respondent bore the burden of proof of the Appellants' non-conformity

with the applicable electoral laws so as to warrant the remedies sought by him

against them. As was aptly observed in Jeet Mohinoer Sinqh v Harminder Sinqh

=!qj (supra), 'the succese of a candidate who has won at an election should

not be lightly interfered with'therefore, to my mind, the basic tenets of law and

procedure must be strictly observed in the adjudication of election disputes.

29.1 am alive, nonetheless, to the provisions of section 103 of the Evidence Act that

places the burden of proof as to any particular fact 'on that person who wishes

the court to believe in its existence.' This principle is re-echoed in Halsburv's

ofE land c e ure Vol. 20 ra which posits that in

respect of a particular allegation the burden of proof lies upon the party for whom

t2
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eleven polling stations that had not been pleaded in the petition. The Appellants

opine that the nature of the judicial inquiry in election petitions should be as was

espoused in Kiiza Besiqve v Yoweri Kaouta Museveni. Presidential Election

Petition No. 1 of 2006 (per Odoki, CJ) that'the Court is not required to make a

general inquiry into the Presidential Election as if it were a Commission of

lnquiry but to determine the issues and complaints.' lt is thus argued that a

petitioner is bound by and limited to his pleadings.



the substantiation of that particular allegation is an essential component of his or

hercase. This legal position resonates with the provisions of section 101(1) of the

Evidence Act that 'whoever desires any court to give judgment as to any legal

right or liability dependant on the existence of facts which he or she asserta

must prove those facts.'

30.Thus, whereas the burden of proof in any proceedings (legal burden) would, in

accordance with section 102 of the Evidence Act, lie with the party who would fail

if no evidence at all was adduced by either side; the evidential burden (or the

burden of adducing evidence) would shift to the opposite party where the party

bearing the legal burden adduces evidence tending to prove his claim. As has

been compellingly proposed, 'the other pa rty may in response wish to raise an

issue (in rebuftal) and must then bear the evidential burden in respect of all

material facts.' See Halsbu ry's Laws of Enoland. Civil Procedure. Vol. 1 2 (2020\.

para. 699.

31. The notion of a shifting evidential burden was espoused in Col (Rtd) Dr. Besiqve

Kizza v Yoweri Kaquta Museveni & Another. Presidentia IE lection Petition No.

1 of 2001 as follows (per Odoki, CJ):

As far as the shifting of the burden of adducing evidence is concerned it is stated in sarkars

Law of Evidence Vol. 2, 14ih Ed, 1993 Reprint, 1997, pages 1338 - 1340 as follows:

'lt appears to me that there can be sufficient evidence to shift the onus from one side

to the other if the evidence is sufficienl pima facie lo establish the case of the party on

whom the onus lies ... what is meant is that in the first instance the party on whom the

onus lies must prove his case sutficiently to justify a judgment in his favour if there is

no other evidence.'

32. ln Raila Amolo Odinoa & Another v Uhuru Muiqai Kenvatta (supra), the same

notion was espoused as follows

It follows therefore that once the Court is satisfied that the Petitioner has adduced

sutficient evidence to warrant impugning an election, if not conlroverted, then the

evidentiary burden shlfts to the respondent, in most cases the electoral body, to adduce

evidence rebutting that assertion and demonstrating that there was compliance with

the law or, if the ground is one of irregularities, that they did not affect the results of the

l3
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election. ln other words, while the petitioner bears an evidentiary burden to adduce

'factual' evidence to prove his/ her allegations of breach, then the burden shifts and

behoves the respondent to adduce evidence to prove compliance with the law

33. ln the instant case, therefore, the Respondent bore the evidentiary burden to

adduce 'factual' evidence to prove his allegation of non-compliance with the

electoral laws, whereupon the burden would shift to the Appellants to prove

compliance therewith. The question is, did the Respondent discharge the onus of

proof upon him?

Ihe votos cast as co ntained in tho baltot boxes of all polling stations in Buwekula South

Constituency Mubende Distict are more than the voters that padicipated in tho voting

exercise as per the volers' rogislers for the po ing stations which confirms that therc

was ballot stufting . ..

35. On the other hand, the Respondent's evidence on making false returns is to be

found in paragraphs 14.1.14 - 14.1.16 of his affidavit at page 25 of the record of

appeal. They read as follows:

Tho ?d Respondent's presiding officers at Bulima, Kibuye Comm

Center, Nsengwe, Kirumbi P. S, Butayunia (A - M)' Kawumula

Kayunga Kivora Rwamaboga Bushenya P/S B Kiuuya, Butayunia (A

- M Knumbi Pi. Sch, Lwemigo, Buwuniro, Kinyinga A Kalonga

Tnding Centre (A - M), Budibaga Eden Katoma, Budibaga, Googwa

trading centre Kibyamirizi, Kagoma, Kifuufu-Kamusenene, Lukaya,

Kawumulo, Nsengwa polling stations made ununiform enties of votes

tallias on the Declaration of Results forms.

('onsolidated Eleclion l'etition Appeal No. 7.1 & 7'l ol'2021

34.As observed earlier herein, the Trial Court determined the petition on the basis of

ballot stuffing and the making of false returns contrary to sections 77 and 78(a) of

the Parliamentary Elections Act. All the other affidavits sworn in support of the

Respondent's case having been expunged by the Trial Court, only two affidavits

remained on record in support of the petition - the Respondent's and Charles

Tumusiime's affidavits. Between those two affidavits the only evidence adduced

in support of the allegation of ballot stuffing is to be found in paragraph 14.1.11 of

the Respondent's affidavitat page23 of volume 1of the record of appeal. lt states:

14.1 .14

l4
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(attached hereto aro copies of tho Declaration forms trom the 7d

Respondent to the Petitioner marked as'PW7' and Declaration

forms from the returnlng officer ol the 7d Respondent to the

Petitioner marked as 'PW|' for analysis of the information

enumerated in the paragruphs above)

14.1.15 The ?d Respondent's returning officers made inconect entias of the

vote talties in respect to invalid votes on the Return Form for

transmission of resu/fs for Buwekula South Constituency Mubende

District by 100 votes.

14.1 .16 The actions of the presiding officers and returning officers of making

incorrect and inconsistent entries on the stated Declaration forms and

Return Form for the transmission of results affected the outcome of

the election because the final rosults were based on grave numarical

,nconslstencies.

36. The only 'factual' evidence of the alleged false returns is contained in the copies of

DR forms attached under paragraph 14.1 .14 as 'P\M' and 'PW8'. I return to a

detailed interrogation of those two exhibits later in this judgment.

37. Paragraph 14.1.15, on the other hand, contains bare statements that are not

backed by any iota of 'factual' evidence. Therefore, the conclusion in paragraph

14.1 .16 similarly remains unsubstantiated with regard to the allegation in the

preceding paragraph. I am mindful of the fact that the Respondent had at that point

requested for the Transmission of Results form from the First Appellant. However,

that does not assuage the fact that non-factual allegations were peddled in his

pleadings then the documentation to support them were sought from the First

Appellant. There is no mention in the introductory averment to the foregoing

pleadings to suggest that the Respondent's polling agents had advised him about

the allegations he peddled so as to justify his attesting to them as he awaited to be

provided with the documentation sought from the Second Appellant. By way of

introduction, paragraph 14.1 simply states that'the 7d Respondent failed to take

appropriate measures to ensure that the electoral process in Buwekula

Sorrth Constituency was conducted under conditions of freedom and

fairness when:: lt does become apparent, therefore, that there was no factual
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evidence on record with regard to paragraphs 14.1.15 and related aspects of

14.1 .16. The Respondent was clearly on a fishing expedition.

38. ln any event, neither the contents of the Declaration of Results forms admitted on

the record as Exhibits P7 and P8 and attested to in paragraph 14.1 .14 nor the

Transmission of Results forms referred to in paragraphs 14.1 .1 5 and 14.1 .16 would

appear to have formed the basis for the Trial Court's decision on the petition.

Rather, the trial judge relied on data from polling stations that had neither been

pleaded in the petition nor attested to in the affidavit evidence in support thereof,

in deciding the petition as she did. The pleadings aptly illustrate this point.

39. ln paragraph 13.1.15 of the petition it is averred lhal'contrary to section 50 of

the Parliamentary Etections Act, 2005, the 2'd Respondent's presiding

officers at Bulima, Kbuye Comm. Center, Nsengwe, Krumbi P. S, Butayunja

(A - M), Kawumula Kayunga Kivera Rwamaboga Bushenya P/S B polling

stations made un-uniform entries of votes tallies on the Declaration of

Results forms.' The affidavit evidence in support of that pleading adds to the list

of impugned polling stations the following stations - Kijuuya, Kirumbi Pri. Sch,

Lwemigo, Buwuniro, Kinyinga A Kalonga Trading Centre (A - M), Budibaga Eden

Katoma, Budibaga, Googwa kading centre Kibyamirizi, Kagoma, Kifuufu-

Kamusenene, Lukaya, Kawumulo, Nsengwa polling stations. See the polling

slations listed in paragraph 14.1 .14 of the Respondent's affidavit.

40.Only Bulima, Kibuye Comm. Center, Nsengwe, Kirumbi P. S, Butayunja (A - M),

Kivera, Rwamaboga and Bushenya P/S B polling stations as pleaded are duly

supported by Declaration of Results forms that are included in Exhibit P7, while

Kayunga polling station is supported by a Declaration of Results form included in

Exhibit P8. Therefore, any contestations in respect of Kijuuya, Lwemigo, Buwuniro,

Kinyinga A Kalonga Trading Centre (A - M), Budibaga Eden Katoma, Budibaga,

Googwa trading centre Kibyamirizi, Kagoma, Kifuufu-Kamusenene, Lukaya and

Kawumulo were not pleaded in the petition but Declaration of Results forms in

respect thereof were introduced in the affidavit evidence under the same Exhibit

P7. Similarly, any allegations in respect of Kirumbi Primary School polling station

('onsolitlated [rloction Petition Appeal No. 73 & 7'l ol'2()] I
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were not pleaded but the Appellant purported to adduce evidence in support

thereof by way of a Declaration of Results form included in Exhibit P8.

case.

42. ln arriving at the figure of 2,690 votes as unaccounted for, the Trial Court departs

from both the pleadings and the affidavit evidence on record. Of the eleven polling

stations considered by the trial judge in arriving at that figure, only Buwumiro,

Kayunga, Kagoma and Kibuye Community Centre polling stations were pleaded

and/ or alluded to in the Respondent's affidavit evidence. Moreover, it is the Trial

Court's finding that the discrepancies in those particular polling stations only

ranged between 1 - 7 votes. Even then, Buwumiro and Kagoma polling stations

were not pleaded in the petition and the evidence in respect thereof would therefore

be irrelevant.

43.|t thus becomes abundantly clear that the bulk of votes that make up the figure of

2,690 would have been from polling stations that were never pleaded or even

referred to in the affidavits. The net effect of this is that the Appellants were indicted

by the Trial court on the basis of material that they were never put to their defence

about. ln so far as the electoral processes in those polling stations were never

challenged in the Respondent's pleadings, the Appellants were never given a

chance to respond to any alleged legal infractions by pleadings and explain them

by the presentation of relevant evidence. With the greatest respect, this is a
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41. ln so far as they pertain to matters that were not pleaded, the Declaration of Results

forms in respect of polling stations that were simply introduced under affidavit

evidence would be irrelevant to the determination of the petition. ln the absence

of an amendment to the petition, the fact that the additional polling stations were

not pleaded in the petition would render their introduction in the affidavits a clear

departure from the Respondent's pleadings. lt might perhaps be conceivable that

in so far as the Appellants were on notice as to the polling stations in contention

since they had been cited in the affidavits, this is an anomaly that an appellate

court might disregard. Not so, however, with the departure from those pleadings

and affidavits by the trial court in its determination of a matter, as transpired in this

w)



travesty of justice and clearly flouts the dictates ot a fat trial and right to a fair

hearing inherent in Article 28(1) of the Constitution.

44. ln Captain Harrv Gandv v Caspair Air Charter Ltd ( 19s6) 23 EACA 139 , the

purpose of pleadings was espoused as follows

The object of pleadings is of course to ensure that both parties shall know what are the

points in issue between them so that each may have full information ofthe case he has

to meet and prepare his evidence to support his own case or to meet that ol his

opponent.

The system of pleadings is necessary in litigation. lt operates to deflne and deliver it

with clarity and precision the real matters in controversy between the parties upon

which they can prepare and present their respective cases and upon which the court

will be called upon to adjudicate between them. .. . . Thus issues are formed on the case

of the parties so disclosed in the pleadings and evidence is directed at the trial to the

proof of the case so set and covered by the issues framed therein. A party is expected

and is bound to prove the case as alleged by him and as covered in the issues framed.

He will not be allowed to succeed on a case not so set uo bv him and be allowed at the

trial to chanoe his case or set uo a case inconsistent with at he alleoed in his

oleadinos exceot bv wav of amendment of the pleadinos. (my emphasis)

46.That position was endorsed in the more recent case of Fanqmin v Belex Tourc &

Travel. Civil Ap a No. 6 of 2013 (Supreme Court), where pleadings were held

to 'define and deliver clarity and precision of the real matters in controversy

between the parties, upon which they can prepare and deliver their

respective cases and upon which the court will be called upon to adjudicate

between them.'
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45. This position is further clarified in lnterfreioht Forwarders (U) Ltd v EADB. Civil

Appeal No. 33 of 1992 as follows (per Oder, JSC):

47.Hence, in Hon. Dr. Marqaret Zziwa vs. The Secretarv of the East African

Communitv. EACJ Appeal No.2 of 2017, the duty upon courts to determine

cases within the ambit of the pleadings was espoused as follows:

wi



It is trite law that parties are bound by their pleadings, that no relief will be granted by

a court unless it is founded on the pleadings, and that it is not open to the Court to base

a decision on an un-pleaded issue.

43.Abiding the foregoing decisions, I am respectfully unable to uphold a decision by

the Trial Court that is clearly premised on a case that was never set up by the

Respondent, and therefore the Appellants were never in a position to respond to.

This finding directly resolves Grounds 8, 12and 75 in the affirmative. Furthermore,

in so far as the Respondent fell short on discharging the onus upon him to adduce

factual evidence of the alleged non-compliance, the Trial Court erred in shifting the

evidential burden to the First Appellant with regard to the allegedly unverified voters

discerned from polling stations that were not in contention. Needless to say, the

evidential burden in respect of un-pleaded claims could not have shifted to the

Appellants. Consequently, Ground 70 of the Appeal would similarly succeed.

49. ln any event, the miscarriage of justice inherent in the indictment of a party unheard

would have the effect of unravelling the Trial Court's decision in its entirety. lt

certainly renders it an exercise in futility for this Court to delve into Grounds 3, 4

and 73 of the Appeal that are so inextricably interwoven with material from polling

stations that were never pleaded by the Respondent.

50. ln the result, I find that the Respondent fell short on the onus upon him to establish

the 'factual' evidence of his claims of non-compliance as against the Appellants,

so as to shift the evidential burden to them to prove their compliance with applicable

electoral laws. The evidential burden could not have shifted to the Appellants in

the absence of clear and concise pleadings of the nature of the claims against

them. To that extent, the Respondent failed to discharge the burden of proof upon

him to prove his case as pleaded to the required standard, and cannot be permitted

to succeed on a case that he did not plead. I would therefore allow this Appeal'

reverse the judgment and orders of the Trial Court and uphold the Second

Appellant as the validly elected Member of Parliament for Buwekula South

Constituency.

51. Before taking leave of this Appeal, however, I wish to briefly address the issue of

hearsay evidence as raised in Ground 6 thereof. The question of hearsay had
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been raised as a point of law in submissions. The trial courl inter a/la rendered

itself as follows:

I note that under Order 19 rr 3(2), parts of an aflidavit need not necessarlly be

expunged. lnstead the Couft may consider awarding costs agaiast a party who

files an affidavit with matlers ot hearsay. I choose thereforc to leava the affidavlt

intact. lwill consider Tumwesigye's evidence both the pleadings and in Court

as a whole. lt will be posslble then to determine what amounts to hearsay; once

that is done, it can be dealt wlth as evidence evaluated in llne with the CPR and

Evidence Act.

52.|t seems to me that the Trial Court's interpretation of Order 19 rule 3(2) of the CPR

is, with respect, misconceived. ln my judgment, the correct interpretation of that

rule would be derived from a proper context of rule (1 ). Order 1 9 rule 3(1)

categorically restricts affidavits in substantive matters (as opposed to interlocutory

applications) to 'such facts as the deponent is able on his or her own

knowledge to prove', that is, facts within the deponent's knowledge. A court faced

with an affidavit that offends that rule ought to make a determination as to whether

to expunge the entire affidavit or sever the offensive parts thereof. Once a

determination of hearsay has been made, then the costs arising from the court's

decision shall be defrayed by the court in accordance with Order 19 rule 3(2). I

would be most hesitant therefore to adopt the Trial Court's view that the court was

at liberty to choose whether to sever the offensive parts or ignore them and

condemn the party that had filed the offending affidavit in costs. That does not

appear to me to reflect the proper import of Order 19 rule 3(1) and (2) of the CPR.

ln the present case, the only method of adducang evidence is by affidavits Many of

them have been drawn up in a hurry to comply with time limits for flling pleading and

determining the petition. lt would cause great injustice to the pa(ies if all the affidavits

20
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53. Rather, particularly with specific regard to electoral disputes, I would respectfully

abide the approach espoused in Col (Rtd) Dr. Besigve Kizza v Yoweri Kaquta

Museveni & Another (supra) where affidavits that were wholly based on hearsay

were rejected in their entirety, while those that were only partially based on hearsay

were admitted but the offensive hearsay evidence was expunged therefrom. lt was

observed (per Odoki, CJ):



which did not strictly conform to the rules of procedure were reiected. This is an

exceplional case (where) all the relevant evidence that is admissible should be

received in court. I shall therefore reject those affidavits, which are based on hearsay

evidence only. I shall accept affidavits, which contain both admissible and hearsay

evidence but reiect the parts which are based on hearsay, and only parts which are

based on knowledge will be relied upon. As order 17 ( 3 (2) provides the costs of

affidavits which contain hearsay matters should be borne by the party tiling such

affidavits.

54. Rule 27 of the Parliamentary Elections (lnterim Provisions) Rules gives the High

Court discretion in the determination of costs in election petitions. lt reads as

follows:

All costs of and incidsntal to the presentation oftho potition and ths proco€dings

conseguent on the petition shall be defrayod by the parties to tho potition in 6uch

mannor and in such proportions as the court may detsrmins.

55. That Rule is instructive on how costs in election petition appeals may similarly be

addressed. I am also cognizant of the general rule that costs should follow the

event unless the court for good reason decides otheruvise. See secfion 27(2) ot

the Civil Procedure Act.

56. Considering that this Appeal has been determined on the basis of a procedural

error occasioned by the Trial Court, I would depart from the general rule on costs

and order each party to bear its own costs.

57. The upshot of this judgment is that this Appeal would stand upheld with the

following orders:

l. The judgment and decree of the High Court of Mubende in Election

Petition No. 3 of 2021 is here by set aside

ll. Each party to bear its own costs

I would so order

2t
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d
Dated and delivered at Kampala this

2022.

Day of

Monica K. Mugenyi

Justice Aooeal
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THE REPUBLIC OF UGANDA
IN THE COURT OF APPEAL OF UGANDA AT KAMPALA

CONSOLIDATED ELECTION PETITION APPEALS NOS. 73 AND 74
oF 2021

1. ELECTORAL COMMISSION
2. MUSEVENI WILLIAM r : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : :APPELLANTS

VERSUS

TUMWESIGYE FRED RESPONDENT

(Appeal from the decision of the High Court of Uganda at Mubende before Luswata, ).
dated the 2Zd day of October, 2021 in Election Petition No. 003 of 2021)

CORAM: HON. LADY JUSTICE ELIZABETH MUSOKE, JA
HON. LADYJUSTICE IRENE MULYAGONJA, JA
HON. LADY JUSTICE MONICA MUGENYI, JA

]UDGMENT OF ELIZABETH MUSOKE, JA

I have had the advantage of reading In draft the respective judgments of my

learned sisters Mulyagonja and Mugenyi, JJA. In my view, Mugenyi, JA

correctly finds that the learned trial Judge based her decision on unpleaded
matters and improperly admitted evidence.

Therefore, I agree entirely with the judgment of Mugenyi, JA, and, for the
reasons she has glven therein, I too would allow the consolidated appeals

and make the orders she has proposed. Like Mugenyi, JA, I too, would differ
from the opposite conclusions that Mulyagonja, JA reaches in her draft. I
only wish to add that the order for the respective parties to bear its own
costs is justified because the respondent's Petition was not wholly
unmeritorious, and raised issues that required determination by the trial
Court.

Accordingly, the Court, by majority decision (Musoke and Mugenyi, JJA;

Mulyagonja, JA dlssenting), allows the consolidated appeals and makes the
following declarations and orders:
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a) The judgment and decree of the learned trial Judge is set aside and
substituted with an order dismissing the respondent's petition against
the appellants.

b) The election of the 2"d appellant as Member of parliament for Buwekula
South Constituency in Mubende District is upheld.

c) The Court orders that each party shall bear its own costs, both in this
Court and in the Court below.

It is so ordered.

Dated at Kampala this
\\, 

^day of............).i:t....... 2022.

Elizabeth Musoke

lustice of Appeal
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